
 
 
 
 
  

 

 
 

 
                           

MEETING AGENDA 

HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
Wednesday, April 6, 2022 

6:30 p.m. 
MEMORIAL HALL – MEMORIAL BUILDING 

19 East Chicago Avenue, Hinsdale, Illinois 60521 
 (Tentative & Subject to Change) 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

 
2. ROLL CALL  

 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – March 2, 2022  
 
4. PUBLIC HEARINGS  

a) Case HPC-02-2022 – The Bagley House – 121 S. County Line Road – Application for 
Local Landmark Designation  
 

5. PUBLIC MEETINGS  
a) Case HPC-03-2022 – 241 E. First Street – Preliminary Application for a Certificate of 

Appropriateness to Construct a New Single-Family Home in the Robbins Park Historic 
District 

b) Case HPC-04-2022 – 430 E. Seventh Street – Preliminary Application for a Certificate of 
Appropriateness to Demolish a Single-Family Home and to Construct a New Single-
Family Home in the Robbins Park Historic District 
 

6. SIGN PERMIT REVIEW 
a) Case A-07-2022 – 18 E. Hinsdale Avenue – Zazu Salon & Day Spa – Installation of One 

(1) Wall Sign  
 
7. PUBLIC COMMENT 

 
8. NEW BUSINESS 

a) Village of Hinsdale 150th Anniversary Celebration  
b) Robbins Park Historic District Gateway Signs 

 
9. OLD BUSINESS 

a) Amendments to Title 14 – Status Update 
 
10. ADJOURNMENT 

 
Public comments are welcome on any topic related to the business of the Commission at Regular and 
Special Meetings during the portion of the meeting devoted to a particular agenda item, or during the period 
designated for public comment for non-agenda items. Individuals who wish to comment must be recognized 
by the Chairperson and then speak at the podium, beginning by identifying themselves by name and 
address. Matters on this Agenda may be continued from time to time without further notice, except as 
otherwise required under the Illinois Open Meetings Act. 
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The Village of Hinsdale is subject to the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. 
Individuals with disabilities who plan to attend this meeting and who require certain accommodations in 
order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the 
accessibility of the meeting or the facilities, are requested to contact Brad Bloom, ADA Coordinator at 630-
789-7007 or by TDD at 630-789-7022 promptly to allow the Village of Hinsdale to make reasonable 
accommodations for those persons. Additional information may be found on the Village’s website at 
www.villageofhinsdale.org 

http://www.villageofhinsdale.org/


VILLAGE OF HINSDALE 
HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING 
Wednesday, March 2, 2022 

 
The regularly scheduled meeting of the Village of Hinsdale Historic Preservation Commission was called to 
order by Chairman John Bohnen in Memorial Hall of the Memorial Building, 19 E. Chicago Avenue, Hinsdale, 
IL on Wednesday, March 2, 2022 at 6:32 p.m., roll call was taken.   

 
PRESENT: Chairman John Bohnen and Commissioners Sarah Barclay, Frank Gonzalez, William 

Haarlow, Jim Prisby 
 
ABSENT:  Commissioners Shannon Weinberger, Alexis Braden 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Bethany Salmon, Village Planner and Robert McGinnis, Director of Community 

Development 
 
Approval of Minutes – November 3, 2021 
A motion was made by Commissioner Haarlow, seconded by Commissioner Prisby, to approve the 
November 3, 2021 draft minutes as submitted.  The motion carried by the roll call vote of 5-0 as follows: 
 
 AYES:  Commissioners Barclay, Gonzalez, Haarlow, Prisby and Chairman Bohnen 
 NAYS:  None 
 ABSTAIN: None 
 ABSENT: Commissioners Weinberger and Braden 
 
Public Hearing 
a) Case HPC-01-2022 – 720 S. Elm Street – Application for a Certificate of Appropriateness to 

Demolish a Single-Family Home and to Construct a New Single-Family Home in the Robbins 
Park Historic District 

 
Please refer to Attachment 1 for the transcript for Public Hearing Case HPC- 01 2022. 
 
Members of the public speaking about this case were sworn in.   
 
Michael Abraham and Joel Rafferty, architects representing the homeowners, were present and provided 
an overview of the proposed plans and showed material samples. 
 
Mr. Abraham stated that he understood the existing home is a contributing structure in the Robbins Park 
Historic District and great care was taken to design a house that fit in.  The proposed residence will be 
primarily stone with cut stone detailing and slate roofing.  
 
Commissioner Prisby stated he did not have any issues with house and added it was an attractive house.   
 
Chairman Bohnen stated the Commission received an email from a nearby homeowner about past water 
accumulation in the back yard resulting from heavy rains.  Julie Laux, the builder for the project from J Jordan 
Homes, responded because of that concern, the plans were sent back for an additional engineering plan 
review and have been approved.   
 
Chairman Bohnen stated that there have been numerous incidences in the past with new construction 
resulting in impacts of neighboring properties and provided an example of a home on County Line Road.   
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Chairman Bohnen asked what the Village’s position is on requiring tanks to store stormwater for later 
evacuation, stating there was a previous water problem on this property and the proposed home has a larger 
footprint, possibly resulting in a bigger water problem.  
 
Mr. McGinnis responded that the Village Engineering Department is not a big proponent of on-site water 
detention, and the Village already requires BMPs and storm basins, but there are several areas in town 
where there is a lack of storm sewers due to existing combined sewer systems.  Mr. McGinnis explained 
that as more storm sewers are installed, there will be more opportunity for direct tie ins. Mr. McGinnis also 
stated the Village utilizes JJ Benes as a third party plan reviewer for engineering and the County requires a 
location to handle as much stormwater on site as possible. In this case, engineering reviews were completed 
four times, where the last review required an addition of an inlet pipe to drain Seventh Street. 
 
Ms. Laux stated that the landscape architect is aware of, and mindfully designing for stormwater concerns.   
 
Chairman Bohnen stated that his concerns remain with the potential water run off issue for the neighboring 
properties of residential construction sites with a substantially larger footprint than the previous structure.  
Chairman Bohnen asked what the Village is doing to solve run-off issues today and in the future.   
 
Mr. McGinnis stated that tear downs have been used as an opportunity to solve drainage issues wherever 
possible.   
 
Mr. Abraham stated that all engineering requirements will be met. 
 
Mr. McGinnis stated that there have been cases where people could not do improvements because site 
flows could not be managed and in other cases, stormwater vaults have been used for irrigation.   
 
Chairman Bohnen stated that there have been issues with the demo of the house and directed members to 
the timeline presented at the meeting.  
 
Commissioner Haarlow stated he liked the architectural design of the home, the design was sensitive to the 
historic district, and it seemed to be a nice addition to the area.  Commissioner Haarlow asked Ms. Salmon 
to project the timeline slide onto the meeting room screen so it could be viewed by the meeting attendees 
as he summarized the items on the timeline. 
 
Commissioner Haarlow stated it was difficult to justify the statement that the home was in a state of disrepair 
and was uninhabitable due to many years of lacking maintenance against the real estate listing and video 
from July of 2020 showing a habitable and structurally sound home. Commissioner Haarlow stated the 
apparently intentional neglect of the home goes against the efforts of the Historic Preservation Commission 
and that there had been other incidences of J Jordan stripping homes in the historic district, in which the 
Village issued several notices of violations.   
 
Ms. Laux stated that the pre-demolition sale of items took place before the current owners, the Callahans, 
owned the home, despite communication from Ms. Laux to the previous owner that the home had to be sold 
in a habitable condition. Ms. Laux stated it was important to note that the Callahans and J Jordan cannot be 
held accountable for actions of the previous owners.  Ms. Laux stated the second floor window was not left 
open intentionally and the electric service was resumed to the house as soon as the applicant took 
possession.  Ms. Laux stated all Commissioners were invited to tour the home in January of 2022 and no 
intentional actions were taken to make the home uninhabitable.  Ms. Laux stated she did not see the real 
estate video referenced in the timeline, but that routine maintenance of the home was not completed.  Ms. 
Laux stated that the applicants or J Jordan had no control of the fire department training initiating before the 
demolition permit was issued.   



Historic Preservation Commission  
Meeting of March 2, 2022 
Page 3 of 9 
 
Ms. Laux also stated she notified Donegal that the demolition permit did not get issued as expected, but 
Donegal showed up anyway. Ms. Laux offered to share a copy of that communication to Donegal about the 
demolition date changing.  Ms. Laux stated the roof stripped off at 641 S. Elm Street was re-installed on the 
newly constructed home at that address and that incident was not related to this current application.   
 
Commissioner Gonzalez asked Ms. Laux about efforts made to save the current home at 720 S. Elm.  Ms. 
Laux responded that the current home did not suit the lifestyle of the new owners and the intent was to 
demolish the existing structure. 
 
Commissioner Barclay stated that she toured the habitable home before the sale, but if the home is currently 
uninhabitable on the inside, the Historic Preservation Commission’s concern is about the exterior of the 
home.  Commissioner Barclay asked if it was possible to save the house on the outside and rehab the 
interior.   
 
Commissioner Gonzalez stated the home has character within the neighborhood and it is a bitter pill to 
swallow that the home could not have been fixed up and modified with a re-design or addition to preserve 
the streetscape and the existing structure.   
 
Chairman Bohnen stated the focus of this Commission is historic preservation and added that the Callahans 
are not responsible for the care the home was given prior to the purchase.  Chairman Bohnen stated the 
current home is a very nice home and is architecturally significant. If the home would have been locally 
landmarked, and able to be rehabbed, a demolition would be prohibited by code.  Chairman Bohnen stated 
that the codes are currently being rewritten and the new codes will address demolition by neglect.  Chairman 
Bohnen stated the new home is good looking and his concerns were not about the new home design.   
 
Chairman Bohnen asked if the stormwater issues were addressed.  Mr. McGinnis confirmed the permit went 
through the entire plan review and was ready to issue.   
 
Chairman Bohnen asked for any further comments from the Commission.  Hearing none, Chairman Bohnen 
asked for a motion to be made.  Hearing no further comments for discussion and no motions, Chairman 
Bohnen asked if the Commission was satisfied with the information provided by the applicants.   
 
Commissioner Haarlow stated the actions taken by ComEd and Donegal were predicated on the assumption 
the Certificate of Appropriateness was going to be issued at the February meeting.   
 
Chairman Bohnen stated that there are procedures that the code calls for that did not seem to be adhered 
to in this case.  Chairman Bohnen stated that currently the Historic Preservation Commission is an advisory 
board and the demolition permit can be issued no matter what the recommendation is. Chairman Bohnen 
stated that he hopes that the new code will be changed so the Village Board of Trustees will make the final 
decision, but until then, the Historic Preservation Commission wants builders, architects and citizens to find 
the conscious necessary to respect the Village’s heritage and quality of life.   
 
Chairman Bohnen asked for a motion to be made. Not hearing a motion, Chairman Bohnen asked Ms. 
Salmon about the procedure when a motion is not made.  Ms. Salmon and Mr. McGinnis stated that they 
have never encountered a situation when no motion was made.   
 
In response to Mr. Abraham’s question about possible options for the applicant at this point, Ms. Salmon 
confirmed the demolition permit can still be issued.  Ms. Salmon stated the first option would be for the 
Commission to deny or approve the demolition and the new construction as two separate motions, the 
second option would be for the Commission to table the motion, and another option would be to recommend 
to approve with certain conditions. 
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In response to Mr. Abraham’s question, Ms. Salmon confirmed that tabling the application is an acceptable 
motion.  Mr. Abraham asked what the timeline was for the new code to be put in place.  Chairman Bohnen 
responded that the new code changes were not expected to be in place for months and this application 
would likely be grandfathered in to the existing codes.   
 
Mr. Kevin Callahan, the homeowner, addressed the Commission by stating that he respects the process of 
the Commission but asked if it was the role of the Commission to make a motion.  Chairman Bohnen stated 
that he has never encountered the situation of a motion not being made and that the Callahans have been 
caught in a situation that is not of their making.   
 
Commissioner Prisby stated that he also felt the Callahans were caught in a situation not necessarily of their 
making but he was having a difficult time considering a demolition for this structure.   
 
Mr. Callahan stated the sale terms were agreed upon in April with a known June closing date and the pre-
demo sale was the action of the previous owner.  Ms. Laux stated that J Jordan installed a furnace soon 
after the sale to abide by Village requirements. 
 
Commissioner Prisby stated he toured the home and agrees it is currently in disrepair, but was angered by 
the home being in very good condition two (2) years prior as evidenced in the real estate video.   
 
Mr. Callahan stated this home will be the family’s fourth home in Hinsdale, and they have been residents 
since 1994. Mr. Callahan stated he and his wife were aware the home was on the market since July of 2020, 
but did not consider it as an option until April of 2021 when the price dropped to what was essentially lot 
value.   
 
Commissioner Prisby stated that price drops like this often happen in the Village, but he has a hard time with 
approving a demolition for a home that was essentially destroyed over a period of two (2) years.  Mr. 
Abraham stated the current applicant is being punished by a no motion and the Commission needs to find 
a way to work through the current process in place while working toward improving the process in the future.   
 
Chairman Bohnen stated that the Commission and the process has been abused in the past by intentional 
neglect of properties to justify a demolition.  Mr. Abraham responded that he has been involved in many 
restoration projects in the Village in the past and that the people accused of abusing the process are not the 
applicants.  Mr. Abraham asked the Commission to consider the application as it has been submitted and 
the actions the Callahans have taken since they have been the property owners.   
 
Ms. Laux stated that a video does not accurately portray a habitable house.  Ms. Laux stated that furniture 
can help make a house appear to be habitable, but things such as working showers may not be portrayed 
on a video. 
 
Commissioner Barclay stated the condition of the home likely falls somewhere between habitable and 
uninhabitable, but her position as a preservationist is to be sure a pause is taken before these types of 
homes are taken down.  Commissioner Barclay stated the Callahans, as the owners of the home, are free 
to tear it down, but she feels the record needs to reflect the amount of money spent to demolish and re-build 
a new home is comparable to the amount that would be needed to restore the existing historic home.   
 
Mr. Callahan stated the home was on the market a good deal of time with no sale offers, indicating there 
was no interest expressed by any parties to restore the home, resulting in a price drop to only land value.  
Commissioner Barclay stated that even if it takes more money to restore a home than it does to restore it, 
the job of the Commission is to preserve properties.   
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Ms. Laux requested the Commission to vote allowing the process to move forward stating the Callahans 
have been already delayed due to cancelled meetings.  Mr. Abraham stated the applicants have already put 
forth a great deal of effort and money designing a house, submitting for permit application, going through the 
review process, obtaining building and engineering approval to even get to this point of discussion where 
the Commission is telling the applicant to keep the house.   
 
Commissioner Prisby stated he is frustrated with the lack of change in a process that requires homeowners, 
like the Callahans, to go through such effort and expense leading to an eleventh hour discussion that could 
have taken place months before the design and application process begins. Commissioner Prisby stated 
that the existing process makes it easier for a home to be torn down over being restored and, as other non-
historic or non-problematic lots are in short supply, the historic lots are now targeted for tear downs.  
Commissioner Prisby added it is unfair to hold up the Callahans who have gone through the process, put 
forth a great deal of effort and money to submit a good home design that has met engineering and building 
approval.  Commissioner Prisby asked the Commission to make a motion for a vote and allow the Callahans 
to move forward with the application.  
 
Commissioner Barclay asked Mr. Abraham if any conversations took place about tearing down the house 
before the application was submitted, knowing the Historic Preservation Commission would likely not be 
supportive.  Mr. Abraham responded there is no obligation to have such a discussion and the amount of 
money to bring the existing house up to code would be greater than the amount spent to rebuild.   
 
Commissioner Gonzalez stated that other homeowners have left the front of historic homes intact and made 
changes to the back of the home to bring it up to current codes and living standards, spending less than a 
rebuild.  
 
Commissioner Barclay stated that under the current process of the Historic Preservation approval, cordial 
conversations, although not required, could take place before the building application is submitted to prevent 
acrimonious public discussions.   
 
Ms. Laux stated there is no current path to have these preliminary discussions with the Historic Preservation 
Commission.  Ms. Laux stated the only path to these discussions is after all the previous steps are completed 
and a great deal of time and money are already invested.   
 
Commissioner Barclay stated that a process involving early conversations would be more cordial and benefit 
all involved.   
 
Chairman Bohnen stated the reason the Commission discusses streetscape elements is to protect the 
neighboring properties, the Village as a whole, and the expectations that people have when a property is 
purchased.  Chairman Bohnen stated that when new homes are built, the character of the area should not 
be changed and a middle ground be established between preservation and new home construction.   
 
Commissioner Haarlow stated the facts about this 1927 significantly contributing structure are not good but 
he sees no reason to delay the applicants.   
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Haarlow, seconded by Commissioner Prisby, to deny Case HPC-01-
2022 – 720 S. Elm Street – Application for a Certificate of Appropriateness to Demolish a Single-Family 
Home in the Robbins Park Historic District.  The motion carried by a unanimous voice vote of 5-0. 
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Gonzalez, seconded by Commissioner Barclay, to approve Case 
HPC-01-2022 – 720 S. Elm Street – Application for a Certificate of Appropriateness to Construct a Single-
Family Home in the Robbins Park Historic District. The motion carried by a unanimous voice vote of 5-0. 
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A motion was made by Commissioner Haarlow, seconded by Commissioner Prisby to close the public 
meeting.  The motion carried by a unanimous voice vote of 5-0. 
 
Public Meeting 
a) Case HPC-07-2021 – 444 E. Fourth Street – Application for a Certificate of Appropriateness to 

Construct a New Single-Family Home in the Robbins Park Historic District 
 
Alison Ford, the architect, was present at the meeting to address the Commission.  Ms. Ford stated the 
Preliminary Certificate of Appropriateness was granted in September of 2021.  Ms. Ford stated the design 
concept is identical but the size of the home has been decreased by shrinking the footprint 
proportionately.   
 
Commissioner Gonzalez asked what material is to be used on the exterior to which Ms. Ford responded 
that the exterior is proposed to be a natural limestone material.   
 
Commissioner Barclay asked how much the home size was reduced.  Ms. Ford responded the home size 
was reduced by 1500 square feet and the only architectural change was the left bay, on the east side of 
the home, was reduced and windows removed.   
 
Commissioner Gonzalez asked if the roof was shingled.  Ms. Ford responded the roof was slate.   
 
Chairman Bohnen asked if essentially everything remained the same except for the left side of the front 
elevation and the square footage. Ms. Ford confirmed that to be true.   
 
Commissioner Haarlow asked for further explanation of the reduction made on the east side.  Ms. Ford 
directed the Commissioners to reference the rendering provided where changes were highlighted in 
green.   
 
Commissioner Prisby stated he met with the applicant early on in the process and that he appreciated 
the effort of the applicant to meet with the Historic Preservation Commission early on and throughout the 
process.  Commissioner Prisby stated the house fits into the character of the neighborhood, is set in an 
appropriate location, uses the odd shaped lot to its advantage, and is a good addition to Hinsdale.   
 
Commissioner Haarlow stated the house design and materials used were good.  Commissioner Haarlow 
applauded the reduction of the footprint and not maximizing the allowable footprint in terms of water 
management.   
 
Commissioner Gonzalez asked for clarification on the exterior limestone.  Ms. Ford responded that 
dressed stone accentuates some of the windows, smooth around the windows, and the rest is natural 
cut.   
 
Commissioner Prisby noted the mullions shown in the renderings have architectural character, it is just 
not a big glass wall of windows.   
 
Chairman Bohnen stated he liked the house.  
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Haarlow, seconded by Commissioner Gonzalez to approve Case 
HPC-07-2021 – 444 E. Fourth Street – Application for a Certificate of Appropriateness to Construct a 
New Single-Family Home in the Robbins Park Historic District.  The motion carried by a unanimous voice 
vote of 5-0. 
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Sign Permit Review 
a) Case A-38-2021 – 114 S. Washington Street – Sauced Pizzeria & Bar – Installation of One (1) 

Wall Sign 
 

The business owner, Greg White, was present to address the Commission.  Mr. White stated the business 
is currently open and operating out the building that the non-illuminated sign will be installed on.   
Commissioner Prisby asked if staff could clarify if the former illuminated Baldinelli sign was ever approved 
for installation.  Staff could not confirm the sign obtained proper approvals.  The applicant stated he did 
not believe the sign was approved.   
 
With no further questions, a motion was made by Commissioner Barclay, seconded by Commissioner 
Haarlow, to approve Case A-38-2021 – 114 S. Washington Street – Sauced Pizzeria & Bar – Installation 
of One (1) Wall Sign.  The motion carried by a unanimous voice vote of 5-0. 
 
b) Case A-39-2021 – 16 W. Hinsdale Avenue – Silver Birch – Installation of One (1) Wall Sign and 

Permanent Window Signage 
 
The applicants, Justas Dambrauskas and Paul Narbutas, were present at the meeting to address the 
Commission.   
 
Commissioner Haarlow asked the applicants to confirm the proposed application is to install a sign a little 
larger than the existing sign and to retain the goose neck lighting.  The applicants confirmed. 
 
Commissioner Prisby asked if the proposed wall sign would be touching the limestone banding.  The 
applicant confirmed that there would be about a quarter inch between the sign and the limestone.  There 
was discussion that the wall sign was larger than the previous sign, which had at least a half of course of 
brick of separation between the sign and the limestone banding.  Commissioner Prisby recommended that 
the sign should not touch the architectural elements.   
 
Chairman Bohnen asked if the proposed permanent window signage met the Village requirements.  Ms. 
Salmon confirmed that the proposed sign size was code compliant and was in line with how signage had 
been calculated in past permit cases.   
 
Commissioner Prisby asked if using social media icons were allowable on the sign because it created visual 
clutter and the information it provides not necessary.  Ms. Salmon clarified that signage should not be 
regulated by the content but added that visual clutter can be considered.   
 
With no further questions, a motion was made by Commissioner Haarlow, seconded by Commissioner 
Prisby, to recommend approval of Case A-39-2021 – 16 W. Hinsdale Avenue – Silver Birch – Installation 
of one (1) wall sign with the following condition: 
 

1.)  At least half of a course of brick is visible between the limestone banding and sign.   
 
The motion carried by a unanimous voice vote of 5-0. 
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Barclay, seconded by Commissioner Gonzalez, to approve Case A-
39-2021 – 16 W. Hinsdale Avenue – Silver Birch – Installation of one (1) permanent window sign as 
submitted.  The motion did not carry, with a voice vote of three (3) nays and two (2) ayes. 
 
The motion did not carry and recommendation for the denial of the sign will be forwarded to the Plan 
Commission for review.   
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Discussion followed about the Commission reviewing signage and lighting in the downtown area with 
future re-writes. It was noted that permanent window signage is a topic that is new and will need to be 
included to prevent windows from becoming billboards with large amounts of text narratives. It was 
confirmed the Historic Preservation District is advisory on sign permit approval and the application will go 
to the Plan Commission for final consideration of approval.  It was noted that the Plan Commission could 
possibly have no issues with the application and approve it as is.   
 
Public Comment 
Tom and Cynthia Curry, residents that live nearby 720 S. Elm Street, were present to address the 
Commission.  They stated the felt the Italianate design house is an example of one of the better pieces of 
architecture in the historic district. Mr. Curry expressed sadness that except for the selling price paid, the 
home could have been saved and not demolished. The Currys stated they support the efforts of the 
Commission to preserve the historic homes in the Village and feel the sooner the process can be changed, 
the better so the historic character of the area can be preserved.  The Currys went on to state they felt that 
there needs to be stronger consequences in place for contractors attempting to operate around the codes.  
Ms. Curry stated they have concerns with the continued stormwater issues resulting from a new home, with 
a much larger footprint than the previous home that currently has significant stormwater issues.   
 
Chairman Bohnen stated that stormwater runoff is the single most significant issue with new construction in 
Hinsdale and that is difficult for limited staff to check sites a few years after construction for changes that 
could impact water runoff, especially to neighboring properties.   
 
Chairman Bohnen noted that it is easier for a builder to tear down an existing house and rebuild with a clean 
slate than it is remodel an existing home and perhaps the supply chain delays the market is currently 
experiences may result in an increase of remodels instead of demolitions.   
 
New Business 
No new items of business were shared with the Commission.   
 
Old Business 
a) Design Options for the Street Sign Toppers in the Robbins Park Historic District 
 
Ms. Salmon summarized the design choice decided upon at the last meeting and stated a vote on final 
approval was not taken because of some members of the Commission were not present at the meeting.   
 
Commissioner Haarlow asked for confirmation that the actual street signs, not the toppers, will be white 
with black lettering.  Ms. Salmon confirmed the toppers will be inverse colors of the street sign colors, 
where the toppers will have a black background with white letters.   
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Prisby, seconded by Commissioner Haarlow, to approve the sign 
toppers that read Robbins Park Historic District with black background and white lettering and white 
border.  The motion carried by a unanimous voice vote of 5-0. 
 
Ms. Salmon stated she will have more information to report at the next meeting about the four (4) corner 
signs and understood it was the desire of the Commission to be more involved in the design, perhaps 
bringing a sign contractor into the discussion.  Ms. Salmon confirmed the exact location and design have 
not yet been determined but preliminary design discussion took place about six (6) months ago for the 
purposes of budgetary purposes.   
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Ms. Salmon asked Commissioners to start taking note of other community signs they like, taking a photo 
and to begin a collection of possible design examples.  Further discussion took place about the scale of 
the sign matching the location, perhaps having similar signs with slight differences at each corner to be 
appropriate for residential locations.   
 
Commissioner Prisby asked Mr. McGinnis if there is a limit on the number of citations a builder can 
receive before their right to build is suspended.  Mr. McGinnis stated there is code that states a contractor 
registration can be revoked by Board Action.  Mr. McGinnis stated he would rather gain compliance with 
other methods than writing tickets, that results in a great deal of staff time in court and very little revenue. 
 
b) Amendments to Title 14 – Status Update 
 
Ms. Salmon reported that Title 14 was brought to the Committee of the Whole in January and staff is 
working on some procedural items and hoping to bring it to the board for referral shortly.   
 
Commissioner Haarlow suggested if the Historic Preservation Committee could be useful to the Board, 
members be present.  Ms. Salmon confirmed that would be possible Historic Preservation Committee to 
be present for the Board and Plan Commission meeting, a joint notice will be prepared when brought 
forward.   
 
Adjournment 
There being no further business before the Commission, Chairman Bohnen asked for a motion to adjourn.  
Commissioner Haarlow moved, Commissioner Barclay seconded the motion, to adjourn the regularly 
scheduled meeting of the Village of Hinsdale Historic Preservation Commission meeting of March 2, 
2022. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 8:22 PM after a unanimous voice vote of 5-0. 

 
 
 

ATTEST:  _________________________________________ 
                 Jennifer Spires, Community Development Office 
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )
                  )  SS:
COUNTY OF DU PAGE )

        BEFORE THE VILLAGE OF HINSDALE 
       HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION 

IN THE MATTER OF:      )
                       )
                       )
HPC-01-2022,           )
720 South Elm Street.  ) 

         REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS had and testimony 

taken at the Public Hearing of the above- 

entitled matter before the Hinsdale Historic 

Preservation Commission, on the 2nd day of 

March, 2022, at 6:30 p.m.

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:

     MR. JOHN BOHNEN, Chairman;

     MS. SARAH BARCLAY, Member; 

     MR. BILL HAARLOW, Member;

     MR. JIM PRISBY, Member; and

     MR. FRANK GONZALEZ, Member.
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ALSO PRESENT:1

         MR. ROBB McGINNIS, Director of2
             Community Development;

3
         MS. BETHANY SALMON, Village Planner;

4
         MR. MICHAEL ABRAHAM, Architect for
             Petitioner;5

         MS. JULIE LAUX, Representative for6
             Petitioner;

7
         MR. JOEL RAFFERTY, Architect for
             Petitioner;8

         MR. KEVIN CALLAHAN, Petitioner;9

         MS. PEGGY CALLAHAN, Petitioner.10
__________________________________________

11
         CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Tonight is a Public12
Hearing, so I would ask that anybody that's13
going to be speaking to Case HPC-01-2022 for 72014
South Elm Street, please stand and be sworn in.15
                  (WHEREUPON, the oath was16
                   administered en masse.)17
              This is an application for a18
certificate of appropriateness to demolish a19
single-family home and construct a new single-06:34:24PM 20
family home in the Robbins Park Historic21
District.22

3

              Who will be stepping to the podium?1
Please, state your name for us.2

MR. ABRAHAM:  Michael Abraham,3
architect.  This is Joel Rafferty.  We are4
representing Peggy and Kevin Callahan, currently5
Hinsdale residents, for their new home.6

You have the paperwork and the7
numbers we have been approved by zoning so we8
have all the necessary approvals for the zoning.9
You have the rendering, it's primarily stone06:35:21PM 10
residence with cut stone detailing, slate roof11
and these two wood samples represent the trim12
colors.13

We also have the streetscape, which14
we understand that this home is a contributing15
home, the location to the Robbins district,16
which is why we took great care in putting17
together a house that would fit in with the18
neighborhood in terms of scale and material.19

I don't know if there was any06:36:10PM 20
questions specifically to the application.21

MR. PRISBY:  Michael, hi.  I,22

4

personally, had no issues with the house; it's1
an attractive house.2

MR. ABRAHAM:  Thank you.3
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  There was some4

concern about the water on this property.  We5
received an email from a neighbor stating that6
for whatever reasons water accumulated in heavy7
rains on this property.8

Are you aware of that?9
MR. ABRAHAM:  It's possible, but we had06:37:42PM 10

the site completely engineered with the new11
house on it.  We have submitted for and received12
approval from engineering.  As far as I'm13
concerned, we --14

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Please give your15
name.16

MS. LAUX:  Julie Laux, J. Jordan Homes.17
There was a concern about that so18

we actually were sent back through engineering a19
second time after that was brought up and it was06:38:03PM 20
re-reviewed by the village and approved for a21
second time.22

5

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Any time we're1
tearing down houses and building new houses over2
there, obviously water runoff is probably the3
single greatest problem you have in the village4
in the last 27 years.5

In the newest instances where6
through no fault of anybody, neighbors have been7
impacted negatively because of the construction.8
Case in mind for 740 South County Line Road9
where Rob Stetson lived a lot of years back.06:38:53PM 10

It's a pretty established block and11
there was some construction way on the north end12
and for whatever -- the lot appeared to be flat13
but for whatever reasons, a sufficient amount of14
building had gone on in that block so that Rob's15
lot became the low spot, I guess, and it started16
collecting water and then the village worked17
with Rob to solve that.  He ended up putting in18
a big holding tank and evacuation pump, things19
of that nature.06:39:34PM 20

What's Hinsdale's position on that?21
I know something occurred and neighbors22
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collecting water on property.  What I'm1
concerned about when I see the size of the new2
building.  You are building a bigger footprint3
than what you have now and if we have a water4
problem going into this, we are probably going5
to have a bigger water problem and I wonder what6
the village's position is on having tanks to7
collect this water.8

MR. McGINNIS:  I hate to speak on9
behalf of Dan Deeter, our engineer, but in the06:40:08PM 10
15 years I have worked with him, he's not been a11
big proponent of onsite detention.  We already12
require BMPs.  We already require stone basins,13
settlement basins.14

The biggest problem we've got with15
detention in that area is a lack of storm.16
There's still a lot of areas in town with17
combinations, can't make direct ties from that18
detention basin or that comp storage basin into19
the combination sewer.  So as we get more06:40:34PM 20
separating the storm, we have more opportunities21
to do direct tie-ins.22

7

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  You are getting1
choked off at the street.2

MR. McGINNIS:  Right.  Right.3
So I know that engineering has4

worked with Benes, who has been doing our third-5
party engineering review for a long time.6

The county is requiring more in the7
way of quality of runoff.  They focused on8
quantity of runoff for years and years and years9
until DuPage county got built out and now they06:41:04PM 10
are looking at more BMPs and what things that11
they can implement to improve the quality of12
runoff.13

The county ordinance requires that14
you try and handle as much of your own15
stormwater as possible onsite before you send it16
offsite.  I know in this case, I think Benes17
actually reviewed this four times.  The last18
time was due to the concerns that were raised19
over a low spot or something in the backyard and06:41:29PM 20
I think they put a yard drain in and they are21
piping that up to 7.22

8

MS. LAUX:  To 7.  And we have made --1
MR. McGINNIS:  Like an indirect tie --2
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  This is something you3

guys are doing in your design?4
MS. LAUX:  Correct.  We also made our5

landscape architect aware of a potential issue6
so we aren't pushing the envelope at all on the7
impervious and so we're being very cognizant of8
the water and he's considering that in his9
design which is beyond what's required by the06:41:58PM 10
village.11

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  I know what's12
required.  But where we ran into difficulties in13
years past, and I'm going personally have been14
involved in my own property 20 something years15
ago, but you get landscape drawings and 3 years16
later somebody decides to do a different kind of17
landscaping on their yard and they change the18
contours and the village obviously doesn't have19
enough staff to be sitting there going back and06:42:24PM 20
revisiting sites to see whether drainage21
patterns have been altered by a different kind22

9

of design.1
And yet the net effect is that the2

neighbors are all of a sudden impacted3
negatively by the neighbors' water runoff and I4
just mention this because it appears that we are5
collectively a much larger footprint than we had6
on that lot and I haven't looked at the7
engineering reports and I'm not an engineer.8

I just was wondering whether we're9
content to -- when we talk about replacing an06:43:06PM 10
existing structure with something that's11
substantially larger, are we doing what will12
solve a potential water runoff problem today and13
will also solve it going into the future.  And14
it's a hard one, I understand.15

MR. McGINNIS:  I guess the only thing I16
can respond with there is at least in the17
15 years that I have been here and Dan Deeter18
has been here we have used teardowns as an19
opportunity to ameliorate existing drainage06:43:39PM 20
problems whenever possible.21

So there have been lots of case22
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where when Al or Dan are aware of a longstanding1
drainage problem we will use new construction to2
try and leverage some solution that will benefit3
everybody in the area.4

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Yes, it's a good5
opportunity to do it.6

MR. McGINNIS:  Right.7
MR. ABRAHAM:  We have been involved in8

new construction projects where underground9
storage has been required and the regulations06:44:05PM 10
and the numbers and the calculations and the11
designs of civil engineering calls for it gets12
down.  It's not something that gets overlooked13
by the engineering.  There are regulations in14
place where if it's required, it has to be done.15

MR. McGINNIS:  And to your point, Mike,16
we are requiring subsurface drainage reports17
actually have to drill monitoring wells now so18
we get some idea where the water table is at19
because it has come up so when we have people06:44:35PM 20
that want to do a two-story basement, a sport21
court, there have been cases where we tell them22

11

no because there's no place to go with the1
stormwater.  So the engineer of record has to2
manage their on-site flows period.3

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  You know, the4
neighbor across the street from me I think5
voluntarily put in a system.6

MR. McGINNIS:  There's a few in town7
where they have actually chose to irrigate out8
of them.9

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Exactly.  They06:45:09PM 10
thought it was a positive thing to capture the11
water and use it.  You also had a lot that12
accumulated water so he took advantage of the13
negative aspect and turned it around.14

I guess the house cannot be totally15
viewed upon until we talk about taking down the16
one that's there.  So tonight we are talking17
about a demolition as well as looking at a new18
house.19

There have been some problems06:46:01PM 20
brought to everyone's attention with the process21
of the demo.  Each of you received an addendum22

12

or sort of a timeline on things.  Would anybody1
like to address that?2

MR. HAARLOW:  I will.  Mike, I don't3
have any architectural comments, but I think4
that house is beautifully designed.  I like the5
way that the stone references 711 South Elm6
across the street, the chevron design on the7
front door seems to be a little bit of a Zook8
nod, if you will, so in terms of what the9
Callahans are proposing to build there, it seems06:46:55PM 10
to be a nice addition and I'm sensitive to the11
fact that it's in the historic district so12
that's all great.13

Bethany, do you have the timeline14
that can be put up that we all have at our15
places?16

MS. SALMON:  Sure.  We have to get it17
prepared on that one because it connects to the18
slideshow.  Well, it's a great question.  It19
looks like it won't work in full screen.  Well,06:48:01PM 20
you can't see it very well, so I apologize.21

MR. HAARLOW:  Okay.  I'll walk through22

13

it then.1
MS. SALMON:  I have some extra handout2

copies if anyone would like to see it.3
MR. HAARLOW:  So the timeline that we4

all received lists a number of events and dates5
which I'll walk through.6

The first is July 4, 2020, when 7207
South Elm was listed on MLS.8

Four days later, July 8, 2020, the9
listing agent Peggy Smego, published an interior06:48:34PM 10
video of the home on Facebook which showed a11
habitable, structurally sound house.12

Then in October of that year the13
listing was removed from the MLS.14

And then the following summer,15
June 19th through June 21st of 2021, a noncode16
compliant pre-demo sale occurred allegedly17
stripping the house of a furnace, water heater,18
fixtures and other key elements.  According to19
Robb McGinnis, stripping a house of these types06:49:12PM 20
of key elements would violate the International21
Property and Maintenance Code.22
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The property then was sold,1
according to MLS, on June 23rd of '21 and closed2
on July 1, 2021.3

According to the neighbor reports4
in the following month or so, starting on5
June 20th through July 28th, a second floor6
window was left open to the elements.7

On the 1st of July the utilities8
were allegedly cut off.  ComEd did verify to one9
of the HPC commissioners that there was no06:49:54PM 10
activity on the electric meter starting on this11
date.  Service was reinstated when instructed by12
the village on August 6, 2021.13

The sale was recorded with the tax14
assessor's office on July 8th.15

On January 10, 2022, this year, in16
an email from Julie Laux of J. Jordan to Robb17
and Bethany, it was stated that Sadly, the home18
is in a state of disrepair.  No routine repairs19
and maintenance have been handled at the home in06:50:28PM 20
many, many years, causing it to deteriorate into21
a desperate state, end quote.  The HPC22

15

commissioners were encouraged to tour the house1
and see it for themselves that it was, indeed,2
uninhabitable.3

On the 28th of January of this4
year, the fire department conducted drills at5
the house in the late afternoon but they were6
called off once the village was made aware of7
that and the builder J. Jordan Homes was told to8
halt all activity until the demo permit has been9
issued.06:51:01PM 10

On February 4th of this year around11
3 p.m. crews from Donegal began digging at the12
site until 6 p.m.  The following day, on13
February 5th, the digging resumed around 8 a.m.14
and was stopped when J. Jordan was notified to15
again halt work per the village and J. Jordan16
was issued a notice of violation.17

Two days later ComEd arrived at the18
property, J. Jordan was notified again to halt19
work per the village and two citations were06:51:28PM 20
issued.21

It is difficult to square the22

16

listing that was made by the agent in July of1
2020 with the reported condition of the house2
after it was apparently, intentionally, allowed3
to deteriorate and had not been in a state of4
disrepair for years and years as it was claimed5
later on.6

It does not sit well with this7
commission when we're charged with trying to8
preserve the historic character of this9
neighborhood and this National Register of06:52:11PM 10
Historic District and properties are apparently,11
intentionally, treated in this manner.12

I think also we have encountered13
issues with J. Jordan in the past, including14
stripping of the slate tiles from another home15
in the historic district, and so this seems not16
to be about the architecture of the proposed17
home, it may or may not be about the new owners18
or the former owners.19

What seems not to be the issue is06:53:02PM 20
that the village had to issue several notices of21
violations and citations and I guess I wonder if22

17

you have any response to those violations and1
those citations, please?2

MS. LAUX:  Sure.  Of course I do.3
I guess the first one is that4

you're missing some critical facts on this5
timeline, that the previous owner had the demo6
sale and allowed all kinds of things.7

I actually had communication with8
the previous owner, told them that these things9
were unacceptable.  They wanted to sell the06:53:45PM 10
windows, the doors and all kinds of things.  We11
told them that they had to leave the house in a12
habitable condition when it was moving on to the13
Callahans, so we can't be held responsible for14
anything that happened before the closing for15
sure.  I mean, we have no control over any of16
that.17

So I think the fact that that18
wasn't held by anything to do with the Callahans19
or J. Jordan Homes is super important.06:54:08PM 20

MR. HAARLOW:  And I didn't state that21
it was.  Just that it was noncode compliant and22
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that was prior to the closing.1
MS. LAUX:  I understand that.  That was2

prior to the closing and they had no control3
over that whatsoever.4

As far as the second floor window5
being left open, I honestly have no idea how6
that got opened or who opened it, that was in no7
way intentional.8

Also that the utilities were shut9
off by the previous owner.  They were resumed as06:54:35PM 10
soon as the Callahans took possession.  That's11
an important fact that's left off of here.12

And I agree that -- I mean, Jim,13
you went in the house, you saw it, I invited14
everyone, Jim came.  Even despite the fact that15
the house had been stripped, nothing to do with16
the Callahans; the house is not significant on17
the interior at all.  I think that that was18
clear and there hasn't been routine maintenance19
over the years and a real estate video -- I06:55:06PM 20
never even saw that honestly, so I can't really21
comment on that.22

19

As far as the fire department,1
every time we do a demo the fire department2
cancels us.  It's their responsibility to check3
the demo permit not ours.  We didn't say go.4
They sent the thing saying, will you allow that.5
I asked the Callahans, yes, of course, we are6
good citizens trying to do right.  The fact that7
they went there before a demo permit was issued,8
again, we have no control over that at all.9

The February 4th and 5th situation06:55:38PM 10
with Donegal, after the meeting was cancelled11
the last month we let Donegal know, I can show12
you that, that we did not get a demo permit13
issued and they showed up anyhow.  The minute we14
were made aware of that, we went over and15
stopped it.  That was a mistake, and you're16
right, we were cited and we will deal with that17
in court where it belongs.  This is about the18
house.19

And, yes, did we -- were we cited06:56:07PM 20
at 641 South Elm?  We were cited for that for21
taking off the roof.  I was actually publicly22

20

called a criminal, which is a little disturbing,1
which I never really chose to move on it.  I2
actually brought you a picture of the roof that3
was stripped off because I think it's pretty4
interesting.5

MR. GONZALEZ:  Why was the roof6
stripped off?7

MS. LAUX:  I'm going to show you.8
MR. GONZALEZ:  No, I don't want to see9

it.  Why?  Why?  Why was it stripped off?06:56:32PM 10
MS. LAUX:  Because it's on a new house.11
MR. GONZALEZ:  What do you mean it's on12

a new house?13
MS. LAUX:  I took it off and I saved it14

and I put it back on the new house.  But that15
really doesn't belong in this meeting.  But if16
you want to see it, that's the roof that was17
stripped off.18

MR. GONZALEZ:  Who are you to judge19
what belongs, doesn't belong?06:56:49PM 20

MS. LAUX:  Well, this house doesn't21
belong.22

21

MR. GONZALEZ:  Was there ever an intent1
to try to save the house and maybe work with the2
existing design or move things around or maybe3
adapt to it or was the intent always to tear it4
down from the beginning?5

MS. LAUX:  That's not a question for6
me, that's a question for my client, and I think7
they bought the lot intending to build a new8
home.9

MR. GONZALEZ:  So there never was an06:57:09PM 10
intent to save any of the house or to modify the11
house in order to work with the current code or12
people's lifestyle?13

MS. LAUX:  No, that's not a home that14
suits their lifestyle.15

MS. BARCLAY:  But you just said it was16
uninhabitable on the inside, which frankly, our17
only concern is with the exterior not what's18
going on on the inside.19

I went through this house with06:57:31PM 20
Mrs. Smego to potentially purchase it and redo21
it.  So it was possible to be rehabbed from the22
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inside while saving an Italianate house and not1
putting up a house that, frankly, is like four2
others that have gone up in the historic3
district.  So my concern is with the exterior.4
So you can say that the inside was uninhabitable5
but I went through it as a potential buyer and6
it was not.7

MR. GONZALEZ:  The integrity of a home,8
these homes, the walls are quite thick and the9
roofs can be replaced.  I have restored hundreds06:58:12PM 10
of buildings from the worst conditions.11

If there is an intent or there is a12
presence to say we are going to work with it, we13
are going to fix it and there's always room for14
modification but at the end if there was no intent15
and the intent is basically to destroy, then,16
you know, that's really sad and unfortunate17
because that house does have character to the18
neighborhood.19

What I have noticed that there's06:58:44PM 20
more of an effort to destroy than it is to21
maintain or work with or modify.  I don't expect22

23

someone to live in this house the way it was.  I1
would hope they would say we are going to do2
some redesigning, we are going to expand on the3
back, the sides, whatever.  We are going to keep4
the streetscape as best as possible but not5
coming in and say, you know what, you got Covid,6
sorry, there's a newborn coming in, you can't7
take that bed, so it's really hard to swallow8
this pill, that's what I'm saying.9

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  I would only say06:59:26PM 10
we're the preservation commission so our11
interests are preserving and so many of these12
remarks will be taken in that context, please.13

Obviously, Mr. and Mrs. Callahan14
had nothing to do with any of this, we don't15
want it to appear that they did.  I would,16
evidently think maybe the prior owners weren't17
the proper stewards of this house and that18
happens.  People buy homes and for whatever19
reasons they don't maintain them.  But the fact07:00:04PM 20
is this is a pretty nice house and it's21
architecturally significant and it's too bad22

24

that it's summarily destroyed now.1
If this had been a landmarked house2

and the way our code reads, our code says that3
even though you might make more money tearing down4
a house that's landmarked, if it's re-habitable,5
you can't have it torn down, you can't get the6
demo permit for it.7

We're in the process of rewriting8
our preservation code right now and we're going9
to address things like that because there are07:00:42PM 10
communities that have in their code demolition11
by neglect in their code as a definition and it12
appears to me that the prior owners of this13
house had in their mind to not worry about this14
house and to let it go and let it be torn down.15
Again, it's no reflection on the Callahans.16

As to the other items in there, you17
addressed them.  Okay.18

Anybody else?  Jim, any comments?19
MR. PRISBY:  I do not.07:01:26PM 20
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  So in the order of21

business, let's jump back to the house that's22

25

going to be built.  It's an attractive looking1
house.2

MR. ABRAHAM:  Thank you.3
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  For all intents, it's4

a good looking house.  The concerns that I had,5
again, were not about the house itself, it was6
about the water situation.7

Robb, I guess we are to understand8
that everybody's looked at this two, three, four9
times.07:02:18PM 10

MR. McGINNIS:  Yes, it's ready to11
issue.12

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  It will be what it13
will be but everybody's done the diligence14
that's required so we don't find ourselves15
impacting the neighbors.16

Any other comments about the house?17
MR. GONZALEZ:  No.18
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Sarah?19
MS. BARCLAY:  No.07:02:41PM 20
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Bill?21
MR. HAARLOW:  No.22
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CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Okay.  So the order1
to be taken we're asked to talk about the2
appropriateness for a demolition permit.3

Is there any further discussion on4
that?5

(No response.)6
So I guess I have to ask if7

somebody wants to make a motion.8
Does anybody want to make a motion?9

Is there further discussion?07:03:29PM 10
(No response.)11
We are lost to move this one way or12

the other without a motion.  If we have no13
further concerns, are you satisfied with the14
answers that J. Jordan gave you?15

MR. HAARLOW:  It sounds to me like the16
citations that were issued, the notice of17
violation that was issued in February of this18
year were predicated on the assumption that we19
would have approved a certificate of demolition07:04:28PM 20
at the February meeting and for some reason at21
least Donegal and ComEd were not notified and/or22

27

chose to ignore instruction, which seems1
unlikely, not to proceed because obviously the2
meeting didn't happen, no such certificate was3
issued.4

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  So I guess the rub5
is, Julie, that this is the second time we have6
to discuss this kind of thing with J. Jordan7
Homes and with you.8

I can't speak for any of the other9
commissioners, but I think my concern is is that07:05:21PM 10
we are trying to preserve what we can in the town11
and there are procedures that the code calls for12
and perhaps there's not been sufficient concern13
or adherence to the procedures which has led us14
to a couple situations that I'm sure you would15
rather not be involved with and we would rather16
not have you involved.17

MS. LAUX:  For sure.18
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  As I say, we have the19

impression that because we're an advisory board,07:06:05PM 20
that no matter what we say people simply say,21
thank you for the decision, whether we approve22

28

it or not, and run downstairs and get the demo1
permit.  And it's a little emasculating for us,2
frankly, to have to go through that but that's3
the nature of how this commission is chartered4
as an advisory commission.5

I would tell you that going forward6
with rewrite on this that it will change.  It7
will change so that when we vote against8
something, people will have to go to the board9
of trustees and make their case because the07:06:46PM 10
board of trustees are voted in and they should11
and do want the opportunity to be the final word12
on these things and it has nothing to do with13
tonight, just simply a situation that's in14
transition.15

So we can have a motion, if one of16
the commissioners wants to make it, and we can17
vote however we choose to vote, you have been18
down this road before with us, and I suggest the19
vote may not be a positive one but you can then07:07:21PM 20
take that vote and go down and get your demo21
permit.22

29

We like to think that our builders1
and our architects, and certainly our citizens2
that are building new homes in the village,3
would find the conscience necessary to respect4
the village and respect the intent that the5
village is trying to do and trying to preserve6
its heritage and preserve the quality of life7
that we've all come to like and treasure.8

So having said that, may I have a9
motion, please?07:08:01PM 10

(No response.)11
Bethany, procedurally not hearing a12

motion.13
MS. SALMON:  I have never had to deal14

with this situation.15
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Is this a Roberts16

Rule of Order?17
MR. McGINNIS:  It's a Roberts Rule of18

Order issue.  I have not run into this before.19
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Nor have I.07:08:47PM 20

In the absence of no motion, I21
guess we have to table the demo --22
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MS. LAUX:  Wait.1
MR. ABRAHAM:  You either can make a2

motion one way or the other.  I don't know that3
it's in the rules that you can table this.4

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  I'm not a5
parliamentarian.  I honestly don't know the6
answer.7

MR. ABRAHAM:  I have never been8
involved with a commission where a motion,9
Roberts Rules, one way or the other, it's not an07:09:24PM 10
option.11

MS. LAUX:  Can we let the Callahans12
speak about their intent.  I mean, they are13
long-time village members and very committed to14
the community.15

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  I have no doubt.  In16
fact, there's evidently some -- again, the17
Callahans, unfortunately, (inaudible) piqued18
some of the commissioners.19

MR. ABRAHAM:  We did not create the07:09:50PM 20
process and it seems like we are a bit caught up21
in the change of your process.22

31

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  No.  We are not1
operating under we're changing.  We have to2
operate under the process that's currently in3
effect.4

MR. ABRAHAM:  The current process is5
you either vote yes or no.  Maybe can you6
outline what happens if there's a yes and what7
happens if there's a no?  What are our options8
if there's a yes or a no?9

MS. SALMON:  So if they make a decision07:10:20PM 10
either way that it's my understanding the rules11
have been set up, like Chairman Bohnen said,12
depending on the decision we can still issue the13
demolition permit tomorrow.14

MR. ABRAHAM:  Yes or no, correct?15
         CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Right.16

MS. SALMON:  Correct.  So you can still17
deny or approve a demolition and then the new18
construction, two separate motions I think the19
way you have been doing it.  You can also table07:10:42PM 20
the motion.  You can recommend there's pass with21
conditions.  There's several ways you can set up22
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the motion, but I have never had a situation1
where there is no motion.2

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Nor have I.3
MR. ABRAHAM:  Is tabling considered a4

motion?5
MS. SALMON:  That would be something6

you can do, tabling it to the next meeting,7
tabling it.8

MR. ABRAHAM:  It sounds to me as if9
this is a delay tactic quite honestly.07:11:08PM 10

In other words, we are being -- I11
don't know when the next set of -- what is the12
legislative calendar for the changes you're13
anticipating?14

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Oh, that won't be for15
months.  It has to be codified.  No.  Nobody's16
trying to shoehorn this into the new set of17
rules and this would be grandfathered probably18
anyway.  We are months out.  We haven't even19
gotten into the final language.  And then it has07:11:40PM 20
to be codified.  That's not the intent of this21
commission to set a new --22
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MR. ABRAHAM:  Okay.  I don't know where1
you're at.2

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Right.  Nobody is3
trying to get a new set of rules and then --4

MR. CALLAHAN:  I respect the decision-5
making process but isn't your role to -- I'm6
Kevin Callahan.  Respect the process, we are7
here to listen but isn't your role to make a8
motion for people just not to say I won't make a9
motion seems a little unusual.07:12:19PM 10

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  It's never happened11
before in the years that I have been involved in12
this commission.13

MR. CALLAHAN:  Isn't it your role to14
make a motion?15

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  My role?  Even if I16
made a motion, there has to be a second, I17
guess, and then it can move forward.18

MR. CALLAHAN:  I meant the commission19
not you personally.07:12:39PM 20

We purchased the property knowing21
the rules, we are abiding by the rules, and then22
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to just say we are not going to make a motion1
seems not right.2

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  I don't disagree with3
you.  I think you have been swept up in a4
situation not of your making.  For whatever5
reasons the commissioners are not --6

MR. CALLAHAN:  Doing their job.7
MR. PRISBY:  I think this is part of8

the issue is whether it's voted on yes or no,9
any vote that's taken at that point allows you07:13:12PM 10
to tear the house down.11

MR. CALLAHAN:  So I understand those12
are the rules that we purchased the property13
under.14

MR. PRISBY:  And I think John is15
correct in saying you have been swept up in some16
other things that have occurred, not of your17
making, and believe me, I'm sympathetic of that,18
right?  I know you want to get started, but I19
think there's some things that I can't reconcile07:13:33PM 20
in my head that I'm having a problem making any21
kind of motion to approve the demolition.22
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I'm looking at this and saying on1
this timeline, 6/19 to 6/21 a noncode compliant2
pre-demo sale occurred and then suddenly two3
days later there's a sale.4

MR. CALLAHAN:  But we didn't own the5
property.6

MS. LAUX:  They can't control that.7
MR. PRISBY:  I'm not saying it's you.8
MR. CALLAHAN:  But we're asking you to9

vote now that we own it.07:13:57PM 10
MR. PRISBY:  I understand that, right.11

But I'm having a problem with approving a12
teardown of this house at the moment and whether13
but for whatever reasons just me at the moment --14

MR. CALLAHAN:  Then you should vote no,15
that's okay.16

MR. PRISBY:  But then I'm voting and17
I'm wondering if there's a way of still18
potentially doing something.  I just have a real19
problem with this because I just look at this07:14:23PM 20
going previous owner has a pre-demo sale and two21
days later it sells.  And again, it's not you,22
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it's not you.1
MR. CALLAHAN:  Just to be clear, the2

contract, we bought it, we came to an agreement3
in April with a closing date in June so4
everybody knew it was going to close June 30th.5
So that had nothing -- that's their timing.6
There wasn't some kind of nefarious timeline7
there.  They knew they were closing the next8
day.  So again, we didn't own it at the time.9

MS. LAUX:  And I directed them to the07:15:02PM 10
code of what they were able to do and we put in11
-- J. Jordan put in a temporary furnace because12
they sold it.  So we went and did what we could13
to salvage what we could.  The window being open14
I don't even know what to say about that.15

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  So you went and --16
MS. LAUX:  They sold it and we brought17

one that we took out of another house and set it18
up in there to do right by the law.19

MR. PRISBY:  Part of it is -- again,07:15:34PM 20
I'm sorry, your first name again?21

MR. CALLAHAN:  Kevin.22
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MR. PRISBY:  Kevin, sorry.  And I don't1
know if this is shared by the rest of the2
commissioners, just speaking on by own behalf,3
having that -- I went and witnessed the house,4
which again, it is in disrepair at this point.5
A lot of things have been thrown out, floor6
missing, holes in walls, ceiling, water issues,7
and I got that when I walked through the house.8
And then when it surfaced that there was this9
Facebook video of the house two years previously07:16:06PM 10
in what looks like terrific condition, I will11
tell you, it made me angry.  More than anything12
else, it made me angry and again, not you.13

MR. CALLAHAN:  We didn't know anything.14
I don't know anything about the Facebook page.15
All I know is, so Peggy and I, my wife and I,16
this will be our fourth home in Hinsdale.17

We have lived in Hinsdale since18
1994.  So we were looking around for another19
home now that we're empty nesters.  So we knew07:16:35PM 20
that -- we knew that this home was on the market21
for a year.  We didn't start thinking about it22
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until, you know, April of '21.  So clearly a lot1
of people went through the home and didn't buy2
it.  The price went down clearly to what was lot3
value, that's when we purchased it.4

MR. PRISBY:  And it happens a lot in5
this town for a lot of different reasons, right,6
which we can get in a long discussion on that,7
and it's not your thing.8

MR. CALLAHAN:  Exactly.  So we saw it9
at lot value, bought the home, bought the07:17:12PM 10
property at that point.11

MR. PRISBY:  You came in kind of after12
the point at that point.  I think Michael's13
designed a terrific home, right, it looks14
terrific.15

MR. CALLAHAN:  It's going to be a great16
addition to the neighborhood.17

MR. PRISBY:  It's gone through18
engineering four times so water issues have been19
addressed.  I'm satisfied with that because I07:17:29PM 20
know the engineering department as well.21

My problem still comes from let's22
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say that you have seen this in what was great1
condition and in a preservation role --2

MR. CALLAHAN:  Understood.3
MR. PRISBY:  -- right.  And then seeing4

it the way I saw it when I walked through and it5
makes me very angry.  I get the other citations.6
Most of these, Julie, I think can be explained7
easy enough, right?8

It's the house being essentially9
destroyed on the inside over that two-year07:18:01PM 10
period, which was not of your making.11

MR. CALLAHAN:  Right.12
MR. PRISBY:  It really bothers me and I13

just have a tough time personally making a14
motion to say yep, it's okay.15

MR. ABRAHAM:  If you are looking for16
somebody to punish, we are not them.17

MS. LAUX:  I know.18
MR. PRISBY:  Michael, I understand19

that.07:18:15PM 20
MR. ABRAHAM:  If you want to punish21

somebody, figure out a way to punish somebody22
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but you shouldn't punish us or the Callahans for1
something they didn't do.2

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  We understand that.3
MR. ABRAHAM:  And if there's a4

precedent, you have precedence for all of you5
being in the same situation when you voted no,6
vehemently no in the past, and you can use that7
precedent to follow through with what you should8
do tonight.  If you have a problem with what was9
done in the past, you need to figure out a way07:18:41PM 10
to get around that or over it.11

MR. PRISBY:  We are trying to do that12
right now with Title 14.13

MR. ABRAHAM:  You shouldn't do that at14
the expense -- you should find another way15
around that.  We have nothing to do with that.16

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Mike, I understand17
that.  And again, I can only say in defense of18
the commissioners that as a commission we have19
been abused many times in the last couple of07:19:04PM 20
years by people that were turning off water,21
letting floors buckle and then saying to us this22
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needed to be a teardown.1
MR. ABRAHAM:  Those people are not2

standing here in front of you.3
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  I understand that.4

I'm not directing any of that to you or to5
Mr. Callahan.6

I'm simply saying that it's abusive7
to have an ordinance on the books and ostensibly8
the village would like to preserve some of its9
heritage.  It's abusive to have people not07:19:35PM 10
respect structures, be coercive with builders11
and architects to get around the precepts and12
the notions of the code and to put pressure on13
the staff who tries their best to maintain and14
to uphold the codes and investigate things and15
have people working around them and putting them16
in bad light, it's just a bad precedence.  It's17
not a way I would want to tell my kids how to18
behave, okay.19

MR. ABRAHAM:  Okay.  If those people07:20:04PM 20
are standing in front of you, then you should.21
I have been involved in many restoration and22
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remodeling projects in this town, buildings that1
deserved to be remodeled, renovated and have an2
angel looking over them, or whoever it is that's3
going to look after that house, do what they do.4
I have been involved in many of those.  I have5
not asked for any special favors in regards to6
any of those projects.  So none of those people7
that you are talking about are standing here in8
front of you.9

All we ask is that you vote on the07:20:33PM 10
surface of what we presented and what we've done11
and what the Callahans have done since the time12
they owned the property.  If there's other13
issues that you want to resolve, this is not the14
forum to resolve those issues.15

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  But it certainly is a16
forum where we can discuss these issues.17

MR. ABRAHAM:  Absolutely.  Sure.18
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  And that's what we're19

doing.07:21:04PM 20
MR. ABRAHAM:  And we're glad to21

participate in the discussion.  Robb knows that22
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we are glad to participate in the discussion.1
Jim knows that we are glad to participate in2
this discussion.  You name the time, you name3
the place, you name the forum, we will4
participate in the discussions but we shouldn't5
be a consequence of the discussion that has6
nothing to do with what has been put in front of7
the board.8

MS. LAUX:  And the video, I mean, you9
guys all know that I painstakingly renovated the07:21:27PM 10
house at 3rd and County Line.  When I bought11
that house, I can show you the book, I still12
have it.  Oh, isn't it great.  I got news for13
you, that house wasn't habitable until I put a14
million dollars into it.  No shower worked.15
Nothing worked in that house.  So a video isn't16
representative.  I mean, furniture can make or17
break a house.18

MS. BARCLAY:  I was in that house19
though.  So, I mean --07:21:52PM 20

MS. LAUX:  But you didn't check every21
shower.  And the same, when I went through the22
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house on County Line, I thought I was buying a1
habitable house and then I got there and I was2
like, oh, my goodness.  This house needs --3

MS. BARCLAY:  I know but there has to4
be a happy medium.  You are saying completely5
uninhabitable, I'd say it's probably somewhere6
in the middle, but for money.7

Our job and my personal feelings, I8
have nothing against you putting up this home.9
You bought this home, you can do with it what07:22:17PM 10
you want.  You bought the lot, do with it what11
you want.  I am in no place for the village to12
come in and tell you what you can do with the13
property that you bought, but it's this lead up14
to that and as a preservationist, it's my job to15
make sure that we take a breath before we tear16
down these homes, so we are just trying to get17
people to take a breath before they tear down a18
gorgeous Italianate home, but once it's sold,19
it's sold and we're working to kind of change07:22:46PM 20
that a little bit so it makes it a little bit21
tougher.22
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MS. LAUX:  Which makes sense.1
MS. BARCLAY:  But your are right, it is2

not their fault and so I have no problems with3
this house going up because you purchased it and4
you can do with it what you want, but to make it5
appear that this house for the amount of money6
you are going to sink into it you couldn't have7
put that money into rehabbing it, I just8
personally don't buy.  So I just don't want it9
reflected in public that there was no way to07:23:17PM 10
salvage this house.  But again, you bought it,11
you do with it what you want, I don't care.12

MR. CALLAHAN:  The fact of the matter13
is, I appreciate that comment.  A lot of people14
walked through that house similar to what you15
did.  Nobody bought it.  So it ended up being16
sold for lot value.17

MS. BARCLAY:  Exactly.  I know.  It18
takes a certain person who wants to put in the19
time and the money because frankly it'll07:23:42PM 20
probably end up costing you more and believe me,21
I'm well aware of that, but it's just our job is22
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just to try to preserve some of these homes and1
if we can't, we can't, we're just trying our2
hardest and yes, you are caught up with3
something we need to take care of at the front4
end, which we haven't been able to do yet which5
we are working on.6

MS. LAUX:  And we are very respectful7
of that but like you just said, he can do what8
he wants, he bought it, so I guess we would call9
for a vote to let them proceed.07:24:15PM 10

We missed the meeting last month11
due to weather, we would ask you to vote so we12
can proceed.  The Callahans have been patiently13
awaiting this day and we would like to call for14
a vote.15

MR. ABRAHAM:  It's not a system, again,16
that we created.  In fact, we can't even get to17
this meeting -- this is discussions Jim and I18
had about -- we cannot even get to this meeting19
until we spend the money, design the house, submit07:24:40PM 20
it for permit, receive approval of the permit,21
engineering, everything, we cannot even get to22
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this meeting to hear this discussion until we've1
spent a boatload of money and time to get here2
to now have you tell us that we should consider3
keeping the house.  It's just bizarre.4

MR. GONZALEZ:  You know, in prior5
meetings we've had, we've always asked whether6
the homeowner or the architect to bring us in so7
we can work together and give you input.  So the8
fact that you're saying you have to do all that,9
you could have easily --07:25:17PM 10

MS. LAUX:  But it's not set up that11
way.  We have to get the zoning approved.12

MR. GONZALEZ:  Who told you?13
MS. LAUX:  We have to get the zoning14

approved.15
MR. ABRAHAM:  Those are the rules that16

are written down to get to this meeting to17
receive a vote --18

MR. GONZALEZ:  Haven't we spoken, Jim19
about --07:25:29PM 20

MR. PRISBY:  I have had plenty of21
conversation with Michael regarding this and I22
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think we had this come up in a couple of1
meetings before.2

The real problem and the real3
change we are trying to do with Title 14 is to4
require people to come in six months before they5
submit at this point.6

MS. LAUX:  And that makes all the7
sense.8

MR. PRISBY:  And it can completely flip9
this around.07:25:53PM 10

MS. LAUX:  But it's not that way.11
MR. PRISBY:  We had new home12

discussions before where not Michael, but let's13
say another architect in town, has come in front14
of us and we can sit there all day long and talk15
about materials and just we know that regardless16
of what we say at this point, at this juncture,17
at the eleventh hour for their house, they don't18
have to change anything, why should they change19
anything.07:26:16PM 20

To Michael's point, they've spent21
tens of thousands of dollars in architectural,22
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engineering fees to get to here, it's submitted1
for a permit.  Before they get approved for2
everything, we are the final hurdle and it's3
wrong.4

MS. LAUX:  It's completely backwards.5
MR. PRISBY:  We can't preserve anything6

with this system and it has been my voice7
frustrated about this for two and a half years8
and we're still nowhere on this thing.9

MR. GONZALEZ:  I know.  I feel like no07:26:39PM 10
one's listening, that's the problem.  We are11
asked to volunteer and no one's listening.12

MR. ABRAHAM:  I have been talking for13
two years about this to anybody who would14
listen.  I feel the same way.  Nobody's15
listening.16

MS. LAUX:  But you can't make the17
Callahans pay for that situation.  We are where18
we are.19

MR. PRISBY:  Well, no one's listening07:26:57PM 20
and until we actually make some changes at this21
level, nothing -- no one needs to listen.  Right22
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now it's just easier to find a house in this1
town and tear it down than it is to fix it up2
and the precedence has been set for decades for3
teardowns, right, and now because all the really4
good lots that weren't historic are gone and5
we're left with the historic homes on the6
problematic lots, now the historic homes are the7
only targets that are left and now the horse has8
already left the barn without a doubt.  We have9
to try to preserve what we can of what's left.07:27:32PM 10

Now, that said, based on the11
conversation we've had tonight and I had a12
chance to voice my frustration and anger on13
this, I will say that I think it's unfair for14
this body to hold up the Callahans.  They seem15
like good people that have gone through the16
trouble of hiring good architect, coming up with17
a good plan and I think we should make a motion18
to vote the way you want on a demolition and let19
them get on their way.  I've had my say.07:28:05PM 20

MS. BARCLAY:  I do have one question.21
If you had these conversations for a couple of22
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years, when they bought the house, did you come1
to anyone and say, we're about to teardown this2
house that we know you guys will probably be3
upset about?  Before we start, do you want to4
take a look?5

MR. ABRAHAM:  There was very little6
obligation to come --7

MS. BARCLAY:  I know there's not an8
obligation.  I'm just saying --9

MR. ABRAHAM:  Now I would say my07:28:32PM 10
opinion and I will get argument about it, in my11
opinion, the money to bring this house up to12
code both energy, structural code, would be13
potentially more than it's going to cost to14
build this.15

MS. BARCLAY:  And I understand that.16
MR. ABRAHAM:  Far more.  And I know17

part of the code that what it costs to do means18
nothing, but my recommendation after going19
through the house, looking at the flat roof, the07:28:58PM 20
low ceilings, structurally what's involved to21
keep that house, all that would have been left22
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is the bricks on the front.  Now, you are going1
to argue with me --2

MR. GONZALEZ:  Well, I am because I'm3
not asking you to --4

MR. ABRAHAM:  You asked me if I have5
given any professional advice.6

MR. GONZALEZ:  No.  Wait, wait.  Don't7
put words into my mouth.  That's not what I'm8
asking.  That's not what I'm saying.  That's not9
what I'm saying.  You are putting words in my10
mouth.  That's not what I'm saying.11

I'm saying if there was some room12
to preserve it and modify it and work with it.13
Not to keep it the flat roof now so you're adding14
work, that's not what I'm saying.  I'm saying15
work with some of the structure, the front.  We16
have had other homeowners that have actually17
respected the front of the house and they have18
actually added in the back and worked on it.19

The fact is that -- and they still07:29:36PM 20
wouldn't -- probably cost as much it's the same21
unless you show me data that gives me comparable22
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say how much I'm going to spend.  I'm sure1
there's some middle ground somewhere, it's not2
all or nothing.3

MR. ABRAHAM:  You asked if I had given4
professional advice on where to go.  That's my5
professional advice.6

MS. BARCLAY:  Well, I was just saying7
for the sake of civility so it doesn't come out8
in this public forum as acrimonious until things9
are rectified and the processes are changed, if,07:30:07PM 10
you know, cordial conversations can be had.11

MR. ABRAHAM:  I have had cordial12
conversations.13

MS. BARCLAY:  About this house?14
MS. LAUX:  There's not a road for that.15

I wish there were a road because that's how it16
was set up maybe a year or two ago where we17
could talk but now we have to check so many18
boxes before we can make it to this day, right,19
how about when you're thinking about maybe07:30:32PM 20
there's some forum of discussion where before21
they would have purchased the property but that22



15 of 24 sheets KATHLEEN W. BONO, CSR 630-834-7779

54

ship has sailed and it's unfortunate.1
I'm a big preservationist, too, and2

I can go through the numbers firsthand of what3
you put into a renovation and what you get out4
and I know it from my own personal experience as5
well as my experience as a builder.6

MS. BARCLAY:  I know.  I just threw it7
out there as a -- so everyone can maintain some8
level of civility and we don't want to feel like9
you're being blamed, or you're being blamed,07:31:07PM 10
it's more the process so that we have a more11
civil tone because it will benefit everyone.12

MS. LAUX:  And it would work together.13
MS. BARCLAY:  You win and you win and14

homeowners at the end of the day win.15
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  I guess as a16

postscript I would say that one of the reasons17
why we talk about streetscape and everything and18
take into consideration the rights of the19
neighbors, not only the neighbors, but the07:31:36PM 20
village in total.21

People buy homes in neighborhoods22
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and they have certain expectations about those1
neighborhoods and people buy homes in towns and2
have certain expectations about what those towns3
are and will become.  So try to find some ground4
where you can build a new house and yet not have5
it change the nature of the neighborhood is one6
of the things that we strive to do.7

MR. ABRAHAM:  I hope that Joel and I8
have shown that over the years that we've tried9
to do that.07:32:17PM 10

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  I would say that11
you're one of the better proponents of12
architecture that have come before us.13
         MR. ABRAHAM:  Thank you.14

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Yes.  Absolutely.15
And we appreciate that and I've told you that16
before, Michael.17

MR. ABRAHAM:  Thank you.18
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  It's not always the19

case and it becomes hard for us because again,07:32:29PM 20
we can't adjudicate taste for people.  We hear21
all kinds of things that owners come and want22
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certain things and more likely owners come and1
they don't always know what they want and2
certain architects crank out a mass-produced3
look and everybody is left with it.  We have4
seen a fair amount of that happening in our5
historic neighborhood over the last few years.6

MR. ABRAHAM:  Our goal hopefully is7
people are arguing about this house 150 years8
from now.9

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  I will attest the07:33:07PM 10
house you built next to me, beautiful house, not11
unlike this in some respects.  We're proud to12
have it next to us.  It looks just fine.  And we13
don't think it affected the neighborhood in any14
way negative at all.  So it certainly can be15
done.  If we're to function correctly as a16
commission, we have to find some middle ground17
where people can have new houses and yet it18
doesn't change the nature of the town or the19
nature of the neighborhoods.07:33:36PM 20

MR. ABRAHAM:  I don't want to make it21
seem like we don't appreciate the commission,22
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we, Joel and I, Julie appreciate the commission1
and we have expressed our intent to help in any2
way we can.  I've written letters to Robb a3
while back, but I think if we can keep the focus4
on this particular property and follow the5
precedence that have been set in the past, we6
would appreciate it.7

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  I would agree with8
you and I would say that it's a shame, frankly,9
that we don't have the prior owners in front of07:34:04PM 10
us because we probably would have a few things11
we would say to them.12

MR. HAARLOW:  I think that in the13
spirit of what Sarah was saying and recognizing14
what all of us feel are problems with the15
general approach we have to take with all of16
this, you know, we have a 1927 contributing17
structure in a historic district and the facts18
around this particular property are not good.19
They're just not.07:34:42PM 20

However, it does seem to me that it21
does no purpose to further delay.  I think the22
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commission has had its say on this and so I will1
move to deny a certificate of appropriateness to2
demolish a single-family home and to construct a3
new single-family home in the Robbins Park4
Historic District, Case HPC-01-2022, 720 South5
Elm Street.6

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  We need two separate7
motions.  So the first motion would be --8

MR. HAARLOW:  To deny.  So Case9
HPC-01-2022, 720 South Elm Street, application07:35:35PM 10
for a certificate -- to deny an application for11
a certificate of appropriateness to demolish.12

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  We need a second for13
that motion.14

MR. PRISBY:  I will second.15
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  All those in favor of16

denying the certificate of appropriateness, say17
aye.18

(All aye except Mr. Gonzalez, who19
               did not vote.)07:35:57PM 20

Now, a second motion.21
MR. HAARLOW:  So a second motion in22
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Case HPC-01-2022, 720 South Elm Street to1
approve the construction of a new single-family2
home in the Robbins Park Historic District.3

MR. PRISBY:  I'll second.4
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  All those in favor,5

say aye.6
(All aye except Mr. Gonzalez, who7

               did not vote.)8
Thank you.  Sorry to put you9

through this, Mr. Callahan.07:36:42PM 10
MR. CALLAHAN:  Thank you.11
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Do I have a motion to12

close the Public Hearing?13
MR. HAARLOW:  I'll move to close the14

Public Hearing.15
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Second?16
MR. GONZALEZ:  Second.17
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  All in favor?18

(All aye.)19
         (WHICH, were all of the proceedings had,20
          evidence offered or received in the21
          above entitled cause.)22
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )
                  )  ss:
COUNTY OF DU PAGE )

              I, KATHLEEN W. BONO, Certified
Shorthand Reporter, Notary Public in and for the
County DuPage, State of Illinois, do hereby
certify that previous to the commencement of the
examination and testimony of the various
witnesses herein, they were duly sworn by me to
testify the truth in relation to the matters
pertaining hereto; that the testimony given by
said witnesses was reduced to writing by means
of shorthand and thereafter transcribed into
typewritten form; and that the foregoing is a
true, correct and complete transcript of my
shorthand notes so taken aforesaid.
              IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF I have
hereunto set my hand and affix my electronic
signature this 23rd day of March, A.D. 2022.

                       _________________________
                       KATHLEEN W. BONO
                       C.S.R. No. 84-1423
                       Notary Public, DuPage County
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              MEMORANDUM 

DATE:   April 1, 2022 

TO:   Chairman Bohnen and Historic Preservation Commissioners 

CC:  Kathleen A. Gargano, Village Manager 
Robb McGinnis, Director of Community Development/Building Commissioner 

FROM:   Bethany Salmon, Village Planner 

RE:  Case HPC-02-2022 – The Bagley House – 121 S. County Line Road – Application for Local 
Landmark Designation – Public Hearing 

FOR: April 6, 2022 Historic Preservation Commission Meeting 
___________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary 
The Village of Hinsdale has received an application from Safina Uberoi and Lucas Ruecker, the property owners of 
121 S. County Line Road, requesting approval of Local Landmark Designation for the single-family home located 
at 121 S. County Line Road, also commonly referred to as “The Bagley House.” 
  
The property is located in the R-1 Single Family Residential District and is surrounded by single-family homes to 
the north, east, south and west in the R-1 Single Family Residential District.  
  
Per the Village Code, the Historic Preservation Commission shall review the application and all the information 
presented at the public hearing to adopt a recommendation if the nominated landmark meets the criteria for 
designation. An ordinance passed by the affirmative vote of at least four members of the Board of Trustees shall 
be required to designate an official landmark. Applications for nominations for designation of a landmark must be 
submitted by the owner of record of the nominated landmark. 
 
Request and Analysis  
The applicant requests approval of Local Landmark Designation for the single-family home located at 121 S. County 
Line Road. Built in 1894, the house was designed by Frank Lloyd Wright, one of the most well-known architects 
and the pioneer for what came to be known as the Prairie School architectural style. The house is an example of 
Frank Lloyd Wright’s early designs and showcases his developing style through the use of an octagonal library, 
open first floor, and deep porch.  Wright designed the home for Frederick P. Bagley, a marble merchant, and Grace 
H. Bagley, who was involved in social reform efforts involving Jane Addams and Hull House in Chicago.   
  
A large addition with an attached porch was added onto the rear of the house in 1986. The lot also includes a 
detached garage dating back to the early 20th century with a shed-roofed additional that was added later on. The 
current homeowners purchased the house in 2021 and anticipate completing future rehabilitation projects that 
may include restoring some of the missing Wright features that have been removed over time.   
 
The applicant has submitted detailed historic and architectural information on the house, interior flood plans, and 
photographs for review.    
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              MEMORANDUM 

Process  
Pursuant to Chapter 3 of Title 14 of the Village Code, the Historic Preservation Commission shall review 
applications for nominations for the designation of a landmark at a public hearing and shall adopt a 
recommendation that the nominated landmark does or does not meet the criteria for designation. The criteria for 
landmark designation listed in Section 14-3-1 is attached for review.  
 
Recommendations for the approval of designated landmark shall contain the following information:  
1. The Commission's rationale for recommending either approval or rejection of the nomination;  
2. In the case of a recommendation of approval of designation of a landmark, the significant feature or features 

in the exterior architectural appearance of the landmark that should be protected and preserved;  
3. Any other pertinent comments related to the nomination of the landmark or historic district.  
 
Within forty five (45) days following the conclusion of the public hearing, the Commission shall transmit to the 
Village Board its recommendation in the form specified by Section 2-12-6A of the Village Code. The failure of the 
Commission to act within forty five (45) days following the conclusion of such hearing, or such further time to 
which the applicant may agree, shall be deemed a recommendation for the approval of the application for 
designation as submitted. The Board shall promptly act on such recommendation.  
  
An ordinance passed by the affirmative vote of at least four (4) members of the Village Board shall be required to 
designate an official landmark. Upon passing an ordinance approving the nomination for a landmark designation, 
the Village Board shall direct that notice be sent to the Building Commissioner and to the owners of record advising 
them of such designation and informing them that any structure, building, site, or area designated as a landmark 
shall thereafter be subject to the requirements of Chapter 5 (Certificate of Appropriateness). The Village Board 
shall also direct that the ordinance approving a landmark or historic district designation be recorded in the offices 
of the appropriate County Recorder of Deeds.  
 
Attachments 
1. Zoning Map and Project Location  
2. Aerial View  
3. Birds Eye View 
4. Street View 
5. Criteria for Landmark Designation - Village Code Title 14, Chapter 3, Section 14-3-1  
6. Application for Local Landmark Designation and Exhibits  

 
 



Village of Hinsdale Zoning Map and Project Location  
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Aerial View – 121 S. County Line Road 
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Birds Eye View – 121 S. County Line Road 
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Street View – 121 S. County Line Road 
 

 

 



VILLAGE CODE TITLE 14 - HISTORIC PRESERVATION 
CHAPTER 3 - LANDMARK AND HISTORIC DISTRICT DESIGNATION 
 
14-3-1: CRITERIA: 
The Commission shall consider the criteria provided in this Chapter in order to recommend a structure, 
building, or site for designation as a landmark, or an area for designation as an historic district. 
 
A. General Considerations: 

1. The structure, building, site, or area has significant character, interest, or value as part of the 
historic, aesthetic, or architectural characteristics of the Village, the State, or the United States. 

2. The structure, building, site, or area is closely identified with a person or persons who 
significantly contributed to the development of the Village, the State, or the United States. 

3. The structure, building, site, or area involves the notable efforts of, or is the only known 
example of work by, a master builder, designer, architect, architectural firm, or artist whose 
individual accomplishment has influenced the development of the Village, the State, or the 
United States. 

4. The unique location or singular physical characteristics of the structure, building, site, or area 
make it an established or familiar visual feature. 

5. The activities associated with a structure, building, site, or area make it a current or former focal 
point of reference in the Village. 

6. The structure or building is of a type or is associated with a use once common but now rare, or is 
a particularly fine or unique example of a utilitarian structure and possesses a high level of 
integrity or architectural significance. 

7. The structure, building, or site is in an area that has yielded or is likely to yield historically 
significant information, or even prehistoric data. 

 
B. Architectural Significance: 

1. The structure, building, site, or area represents certain distinguishing characteristics of 
architecture inherently valuable for the study of a time period, type of property, method of 
construction, or use of indigenous materials. 

2. The structure, building, site, or area embodies elements of design, detail, material, or 
craftsmanship of exceptional quality. 

3. The structure, building, site, or area exemplifies a particular architectural style in terms of detail, 
material, and workmanship which has resulted in little or no alteration to its original 
construction. 

4. The structure, building, site, or area is one of the few remaining examples of a particular 
architectural style and has undergone little or no alteration since its original construction. 

5. The structure, building, site, or area is, or is part of, a contiguous grouping that has a sense of 
cohesiveness expressed through a similarity of style characteristics, time period, type of 
property, method of construction, or use of indigenous materials and accents the architectural 
significance of an area. 

6. The detail, material, and workmanship of the structure, building, or site can be valued in and of 
themselves as reflective of or similar to those of the majority of the other visual elements in the 
area. 
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C. Historic Significance: 
1. The structure, building, site, or area is an exceptional example of an historic or vernacular style, 

or is one of the few such remaining properties of its kind in the Village. 
2. The structure, building, site, or area has a strong association with the life or activities of a person 

or persons who has significantly contributed to or participated in the historic events of the 
United States, the State, or the Village. 

3. The structure, building, site, or area is associated with an organization or group, whether formal 
or informal, from which persons have significantly contributed to or participated in the historic 
events of the United States, the State, or the Village. 

4. The structure, building, site, or area is associated with a notable historic event. 
5. The structure, building, site, or area is associated with an antiquated use due to technological or 

social advances. 
6. The structure, building, site, or area is a monument to, or a cemetery of, an historic person or 

persons. (Ord. O2000-7, 4-18-2000, eff. 5-1-2000) 
 











VILLAGE OF HINSDALE 

LOCAL LANDMARK DESIGNATION 

Frederick P. & Grace H. Bagley House 

121 S. County Line Road 

 

List of Attachments: 

• Legal Description 
• Site Information 
• Description 
• Proof of Ownership-Deed 
• Floor Plans 
• Links to Historic Architectural Drawings 
• Photos 



Hinsdale Application for Local Landmark Designation 

Address: 121 S. County Line Road 

P.I.N.: 18-07-105-007 

Legal Description:  

The South ½ of Lot 5 and the North ½ of Lot 6 in Block 2 in Highlands, a subdivision of the North West ¼ 
of the West 800 Feet of the North 144 Feet of the South West ¼ of Section 7, Township 38 North, Range 
12, East of the Third Principal Meridian, in Cook County, Illinois. 

II. SITE INFORMATION 

1. This Frank Lloyd Wright-designed house was built in 1894 on a 300’ deep lot on the east side of 
South County Line Road. The original house has a 40’ x 42’ footprint with an octagonal library 
attached at the front of the north façade. A large addition was built across the rear of the house 
in 1986, extending the house to the east by 9 feet. An octagonal sunroom, attached by a pergola 
to the main house, was part of this addition. A 24’ x 20’ hipped-roof garage, probably from the 
early 20th-century, stands at the northeast corner of the lot. The garage has a 13’ deep shed-
roofed addition on the back. The lot is wooded and landscaped, with a sunken lawn in the front 
of the house. A landscaped terrace behind the house leads to another sunken lawn at the rear 
of the lot.  

Description:  The Frederick P. and Grace H. Bagley House was built in 1894. It is one of the first designs 
by Frank Lloyd Wright after he established his independent practice in Chicago. Wright, whose career 
was both long and prolific, is widely recognized as one of the most important architects in American 
history. The Bagley House has several features that point to Wright’s developing style, including the 
open floor plan of the first floor public rooms, the deep porch and the attached octagonal library. The 
house sits on the east side of County Line Road in a subdivision that was platted in 1891. Adolph 
Froscher, one of Hinsdale’s finest homebuilders, was the contractor. 

The Bagley House has long been recognized by Wright scholars as an important early design. It has been 
featured in numerous books and articles and was photographed in the 1940s as part of a series 
documenting Wright’s work in suburban Chicago. 

Frederick P. Bagley (1861-1933) was a marble merchant who had arrived in Chicago from his home state 
of Michigan in 1884. His marble yard, which specialized in marble brought from Georgia, was located 
near 18th and Canal streets along the railroad tracks. He married Grace Hodges Bagley (1860-1944), a 
native Illinoisan, in 1885. The Bagleys lived in the fashionable area around Prairie Avenue. They were 
active members of the nearby Unitarian church led by Jenkin Lloyd Jones, Frank Lloyd Wright’s uncle. It 
seems likely that it was through Jones and their church membership that the Bagleys met the young 
Wright.  

Grace Bagley was deeply involved with the social reform network centered around Jane Addams and 
Hull House. In addition to her work on tenement house reform and child labor issues, Mrs. Bagley 
worked closely with Addams and other important social reformers to establish the first Juvenile Court in 
the nation in 1899. Grace Bagley was also on the board of the Hinsdale Fresh Air Association, an 
organization that brought underprivileged children from the city to enjoy the healthy country air of 



Hinsdale. In 1893 she and her husband approached Wright to design a second home for their family in 
Hinsdale. They would be able to enjoy a bucolic site and to take advantage of easy access into the city 
from the nearby Highlands railroad station. In January, 1894 Froscher approved Wright’s drawings and 
construction soon began. 

The Bagleys built a gambrel-roofed Dutch Colonial house with a plan somewhat similar to several other 
Wright designs of the 1890s, including his own home in Oak Park. The deep front and rear porches, with 
access into the main living areas through French doors, gave the family of five ready access to their 
wooded lot. Marble Ionic porch columns and marble facing on the foundation and chimney were 
provided by Bagley’s business. Inside, a spacious entry hall was dominated by a flowing staircase with 
the simple, screen-like railings that would become one of Wright’s signature design features. A large 
living room spanned the front of the house and opened to a bay-windowed dining room on the rear. An 
inglenook, set behind marble columns and lined with deep red marble slabs, was set in the interior 
corner of the living room. The northeast corner of the plan was reserved for service areas: a pantry, a 
kitchen and rear stairs. Off the first landing of the main staircase was a cozy octagonal library with a 
band of windows above the bookcases and a domed ceiling.  Upstairs, the house had 6 bedrooms and a 
bathroom arranged around a central hall. The attic held additional living space.  

The first floor plan of the main house remains just as Wright designed it, with some minor changes to 
the woodwork and a picture window in the south wall of the living room that probably dates from the 
mid-20th century. Although the 1894 plan is still in place, in 1983 a large, two-story, glassed addition was 
constructed across the rear of the house, creating a family eating area off the kitchen and a large family 
room with a fireplace. With numerous doors opening to the back yard, the addition also has a large 
central skylight. A pergola connects the addition to an octagonal sunroom that echoes the library on the 
north side of the house. 

Changing fashions and a series of 20th-century owners have led to several changes on the second floor. 
The southeast bedroom is now a closet and bathing area, connecting to a toilet room and sink area. A 
small secondary hallway passes through this area to the primary bedroom on the southwest corner of 
the house. The primary bedroom occupies a space that was formerly two bedrooms. The northeast 
bedroom has been enlarged to the east over the kitchen wing, using several re-purposed windows from 
nearby bedrooms.  

The third floor has a living room, bedroom, bathroom and storage areas. The original dormer window 
adjacent to the chimney has been expanded to provide additional light and egress. 

The house was originally sheathed in cedar shingles, including the gambrel roof. The house is now 
covered in artificial siding. The original shingle siding remains on the walls, underneath this 20th-century 
alteration. New owners plan to restore the house and, in particular, its original cedar-shingled 
appearance. 

The Bagleys kept their County Line Road house for just a few years. Labor issues caused Frederick Bagley 
to close his marble yard in 1904 and the family soon left Illinois to start a new life in Boston. Little is 
known of subsequent owners prior to World War I, but Mr. and Mrs. Chauncey Lamb owned the house 
in the 1930s. After World War II the Dezendorf family purchased it from the Lambs. Nelson C. Dezendorf 
was an executive at the nearby Electro-Motive plant and one of fifteen Electro-Motive managers living 
in Hinsdale at the time.  



The house fell into disrepair in the 1970s and, after a failed rehabilitation attempt, was purchased by 
Jerry and Jeannette Goldstone in 1977. The Goldstones did a number of renovations over the years, 
including a major, award-winning addition in 1983. The current, preservation-minded owners purchased 
the house from the Goldstones in 2021 and expect to rehabilitate it, restoring some of its missing Wright 
features and bringing it up to 21st-century building codes. 

 

















BAGLEY HOUSE—Links to original architectural drawings 

 

Front: 

https://library.artstor.org/#/asset/28580241;prevRouteTS=1644868998293 

 

North: 

https://library.artstor.org/#/asset/28580243;prevRouteTS=1644868998293 

 

Rear: 

https://library.artstor.org/#/asset/28580238;prevRouteTS=1644868998293 

 

First Floor Plan: 

https://library.artstor.org/#/asset/28580236;prevRouteTS=1644868998293 

 

Second Floor Plan: 

https://library.artstor.org/#/asset/28580237;prevRouteTS=1644868998293 

 

https://library.artstor.org/#/asset/28580241;prevRouteTS=1644868998293
https://library.artstor.org/#/asset/28580243;prevRouteTS=1644868998293
https://library.artstor.org/#/asset/28580238;prevRouteTS=1644868998293
https://library.artstor.org/#/asset/28580236;prevRouteTS=1644868998293
https://library.artstor.org/#/asset/28580237;prevRouteTS=1644868998293
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1. Bagley House-Historic Photo c.1895 West facade 

 

 

 

 

2. Bagley House-Historic Photo c.1910 West Façade 
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3. Bagley House-West façade & Library 

 

 

4. Bagley House-Front Porch 
Showing marble columns and 
marble facing on supports 
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5. Bagley House—West façade detail 

 

 

 

6. Bagley House—South façade 
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7. Bagley House—East façade with 1983 addition and gazebo 

 

 

 

8. Bagley House—East façade detail  
Second story bedroom expansion and attic dormer 
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9. Bagley House-North façade 

 

 

10. Bagley House—North façade service entrance 



FREDERICK P. & GRACE H. BAGLEY HOUSE 
121 S. COUNTY LINE ROAD 
HINSDALE LANDMARK NOMINATION 
PHOTOS 
 

6 
 

 

11. Bagley House-Original Shingles 

 

 

 

 

12. Bagley House-Garage looking northeast 
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113 S. County Line Road-House to the north of the Bagley House 

 

 

131 S. County Line Road-House to the south of the Bagley House 
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118 S. County Line Road-House across the street from the Bagley House 
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              MEMORANDUM 

DATE:   April 1, 2022 

TO:   Chairman Bohnen and Historic Preservation Commissioners 

CC:  Kathleen A. Gargano, Village Manager 
Robb McGinnis, Director of Community Development/Building Commissioner 

FROM:   Bethany Salmon, Village Planner 

RE:  Case HPC-03-2021 – 241 E. First Street – Preliminary Application for a Certificate of 
Appropriateness to Construct a New Single-Family Home in the Robbins Park Historic District 

FOR: April 6, 2022 Historic Preservation Commission Meeting 
__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary 
The Village of Hinsdale has received a preliminary Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) application from J Jordan 
Homes, LLC, the project builder, requesting preliminary approval to construct a new single-family home located 
at 444 E. Fourth Street in the Robbins Park Historic District. The project architect is Moment Design.  
 
Per the Village Code, no permits shall be issued for demolition or new construction of any structure located in a 
designated historic district without the rendering of a final decision by the Historic Preservation Commission on 
an application for a Certificate of Appropriateness.  
 
Background 
The subject property is non-conforming vacant corner lot located on First Street and Elm Street. The property is 
located in the R-1 Single Family Residential District and is surrounded by single-family homes to the east, south, 
and west in the R-1 Single Family Residential District. A single-family home is located to the north in the R-4 Single 
Family Residential District.  
 
On September 2, 2020, the Historic Preservation Commission, by a vote of 6-0, approved a request for a Certificate 
of Appropriateness to construct a new single-family house at 241 E. First Street, with the condition that the 
architect adjust the corner window as discussed and work with the Historic Preservation Commission architects 
(Case HPC-07-2020). The project did not move forward and since that time the vacant lot was purchased by new 
homeowners.  
 
Request and Analysis 
The applicant requests approval to construct a new code-compliant single family house on a 23,380 square foot 
non-conforming vacant corner lot. The applicant has submitted a site plan, interior floor plans, colored rendering 
of the front elevation facing First Street, and photos of the neighboring properties for review.   
 
As shown on the preliminary plans, the two-story home will be constructed primarily of white siding with stone 
accent areas. The house includes a front porch facing First Street, dormers, a two-car attached garage, and a one-
car detached garage. Bulk zoning requirements will be finalized and confirmed prior to scheduling this project for 
a formal Certificate of Appropriateness review.  
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Process 
In accordance with Section 14-5-4, the purpose of a Preliminary Application for a Certificate of Appropriateness 
Review is to broadly acquaint the Historic Preservation Commission with the applicant's proposal and to provide 
the applicant with any preliminary views or concerns. At the meeting at which the preliminary application is 
considered, any member of the commission may make any comments, suggestions or recommendations 
regarding the preliminary application deemed necessary or appropriate by that member; provided, however, that 
no recommendation shall be made, and no final or binding action shall be taken, with respect to any preliminary 
application by the Commission. Any views expressed in the course of the Commission's review of any preliminary 
application shall be deemed to be only preliminary and advisory and only the individual views of the member 
expressing them. Nothing said or done in the course of such review shall be deemed to create, or to prejudice, 
any rights of the applicant or to obligate the Commission, or any member of it, to approve or deny any formal 
application following full consideration thereof as required by this Title.  
 
Pursuant to Title 14, Section 14-5-1(B), no alteration shall be allowed to, and no permits shall be issued for, the 
alteration, demolition, signage, or any other physical modifications of the exterior architectural appearance of any 
structure, building, site, or area located in a designated historic district without the rendering of a final decision 
by the Historic Preservation Commission on an application for a certificate of appropriateness. The final decision 
of the Historic Preservation Commission shall be advisory only. 
 
Applications for a Certificate of Appropriateness shall conform to the applicable standards set forth in Village Code 
Title 14, Section 14-5-2, which are attached for review. 
 
Attachments 
1. Zoning Map and Project Location 
2. Aerial View  
3. Birds Eye View 
4. Robbins Park Historic District Map 
5. Certificate of Appropriateness Review Criteria - Village Code Title 14, Section 14-5-2  
6. Application for Certificate of Appropriateness and Exhibits 
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Aerial View – 241 E. First Street 
 

 

  

444 E. Fourth Street 



Birds Eye View – 241 E. First Street 
 

 

 





CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS REVIEW CRITERIA  
VILLAGE CODE TITLE 14, SECTION 14-5-2 
 
14-5-2: CRITERIA: 

All applications for a certificate of appropriateness shall conform to the applicable standards in this 
section. 
 
A. General Standards: 

1. Alterations that do not affect any essential architectural or historic features of a structure or 
building as viewed from a public or private street ordinarily should be permitted. 

2. The distinguishing original qualities or character of a structure, building, or site and its 
environment should not be destroyed. No alteration or demolition of any historic material or 
distinctive architectural feature should be permitted except when necessary to assure an 
economically viable use of a site. 

3. All structures, buildings, sites, and areas should be recognized as products of their own time. 
Alterations that have no historical basis and that seek to create an earlier appearance than the 
true age of the property are discouraged. 

4. Changes that may have taken place in the course of time are evidence of the history and 
development of a structure, building, or site and its environment. These changes may have 
acquired significance in their own right, and this significance should be recognized and 
respected when dealing with a specific architectural period. 

5. Distinctive stylistic features or examples of skilled craftsmanship that characterize a structure, 
building, site, or area should ordinarily be maintained and preserved. 

6. Deteriorated architectural features should be repaired rather than replaced, whenever possible. 
In the event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being 
replaced in composition, design, color, texture, and other visual qualities. Repair or replacement 
of missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of features, 
substantiated by historic, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural designs or the 
availability of different architectural elements from other buildings or structures. 

7. The surface cleaning of structures and buildings should be undertaken with the gentlest means 
possible. Sandblasting and other cleaning methods that will damage the structures and 
buildings should be avoided. 

8. New structures or buildings, or alterations to sites should not be discouraged when such 
structures or alterations do not destroy significant historical or architectural features and are 
compatible with the size, scale, color, material, and character of the site, neighborhood, or 
environment. 

9. Whenever possible, new structures or buildings, or alterations to the existing conditions of sites 
should be done in such a manner that, if such new structures or alterations were to be removed 
in the future, the essential form and integrity of the original structure, building, site, or area 
would be unimpaired. 

10. Any permitted alteration or demolition should promote the purposes of this Title and general 
welfare of the Village and its residents. 

11. Demolition should not be permitted if a structure, building, or site is economically viable in its 
present condition or could be economically viable after completion of appropriate alterations, 
even if demolition would permit a more profitable use of such site. 
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B. Design Standards: 

1. Height: The height of a landmark after alteration should be compatible with the height of the 
original landmark. The height of a structure or building and adjacent open spaces after any 
proposed alteration or construction within an historic district should be compatible with the style 
and character of the structure or building and with surrounding structures and buildings in an 
historic district. 

2. Relationship Between Mass And Open Space: The relationship between a landmark and 
adjacent open spaces after its alteration should be compatible with such relationship prior to 
such alteration. The relationship between a structure or building and adjacent open spaces after 
alteration within an historic district should be compatible with the relationship between 
surrounding structures, buildings and adjacent open spaces within such historic district. 

3. Relationship Among Height, Width And Scale: The relationship among the height, width, and 
scale of a landmark after alteration should be compatible with such relationship prior to such 
alteration. The relationship among height, width, and scale of a structure or building after an 
alteration within an historic district should be compatible with the relationship among height, 
width, and scale of surrounding structures and buildings within such historic district. 

4. Directional Expression: The directional expressions of a landmark after alteration, whether its 
vertical or horizontal positioning, should be compatible with the directional expression of the 
original landmark. The directional expression of a structure or building after alteration within an 
historic district should be compatible with the directional expression of surrounding structures 
and buildings within such historic district. 

5. Roof Shape: The roof shape of a landmark after alteration should be compatible with the roof 
shape of the original landmark. The roof shape of a structure, building, or object after alteration 
within an historic district should be compatible with the roof shape of surrounding structures and 
buildings within such historic district. 

6. Architectural Details, General Designs, Materials, Textures, And Colors: The architectural 
details, general design, materials, textures, and colors of a landmark after alteration should be 
compatible with the architectural details, general design, materials, textures, and colors of the 
original landmark. The architectural details, general design, materials, textures, and colors of a 
structure or building after alteration within an historic district should be compatible with the 
architectural details, general design, materials, textures, and colors of surrounding structures 
and buildings within such historic district. 

7. Landscape And Appurtenances: The landscape and appurtenances, including without limitation 
signs, fences, accessory structures, and pavings, of a landmark after alteration should be 
compatible with the landscape and appurtenances of the original landmark. The landscape and 
appurtenances of a structure or building after alteration within an historic district should be 
compatible with the landscape and appurtenances of surrounding structures and buildings 
within such historic district. 

8. Construction: New construction in an historic district should be compatible with the architectural 
styles, design standards and streetscapes within such historic districts. 

 

C. Additional Standards: In addition to the foregoing standards, the commission may consider the 
secretary of the interior's standards for rehabilitation guidelines for rehabilitating historic buildings 
(revised 1983), and any amendments thereto, in reviewing any application under this section.  

 











241 E First Street| View to West

241 E First Street| View to North



219 E First Street | Two homes to the West

225 E First Street | West adjacent home



45 S Park | Home at corner of First + Park

215 E First Street | Three homes to the West



305 E First Steet| Home across Elm Street

244 E First Street | Home across First Street
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              MEMORANDUM 

DATE:   April 1, 2022 

TO:   Chairman Bohnen and Historic Preservation Commissioners 

CC:  Kathleen A. Gargano, Village Manager 
Robb McGinnis, Director of Community Development/Building Commissioner 

FROM:   Bethany Salmon, Village Planner 

RE:  Case HPC-04-2021 – 430 E. Seventh Street – Preliminary Application for a Certificate of 
Appropriateness to Demolish a Single-Family Home and to Construct a New Single-Family Home 
in the Robbins Park Historic District 

FOR: April 6, 2022 Historic Preservation Commission Meeting 
__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary 

The Village of Hinsdale has received a preliminary Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) application from J Jordan 
Homes, LLC, the project builder, requesting preliminary approval to demolish an existing single-family home and 
to construct a new single-family home located at 430 E. Seventh Street in the Robbins Park Historic District. The 
project architect is Moment Design.  
 
Per the Village Code, no permits shall be issued for demolition or new construction of any structure located in a 
designated historic district without the rendering of a final decision by the Historic Preservation Commission on 
an application for a Certificate of Appropriateness.  
 
Background 
The existing single-family home at 430 E. Seventh Street is a two-story building constructed in 1938 and designed 
by Phillip Duke West. The building features Colonial Revival architecture and includes stone veneer on the first 
floor, siding on the second floor, a front porch with segmental arched openings, multiple front gable wall formers, 
and double hung windows. A two-story addition was constructed in 1998 on the east side of the home.  
 
The building is classified as a Contributing Structure in the Robbins Park Historic District according to the 2008 
National Register of Historic Places Nomination and Significant according to the 2007 Architectural Resources in 
the Robbins II Survey Area.  
 
The subject property is located in the R-1 Single Family Residential District and is surrounded by single-family 
homes to the north, south, east and west in the R-1 Single Family Residential District.  
 
Request and Analysis 
The applicant requests approval to demolish the existing single-family home and construct a new code-compliant 
single family house on a lot measuring approximately 29,600 square feet in size. A site plan, interior floor plans, 
building elevations, rendering of the front elevation, and photos of the neighboring properties have been 
submitted for review.   
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              MEMORANDUM 

As shown on the preliminary plans, the two-story home will be constructed of what appears to be brick and vertical 
siding. The house includes a front porch, arched accent windows, a three-car attached garage, and a detached 
pool house with a one-car garage. Bulk zoning requirements will be finalized and confirmed prior to scheduling 
this project for a formal Certificate of Appropriateness review.  
 
Process 
In accordance with Section 14-5-4, the purpose of a Preliminary Application for a Certificate of Appropriateness 
Review is to broadly acquaint the Historic Preservation Commission with the applicant's proposal and to provide 
the applicant with any preliminary views or concerns. At the meeting at which the preliminary application is 
considered, any member of the commission may make any comments, suggestions or recommendations 
regarding the preliminary application deemed necessary or appropriate by that member; provided, however, that 
no recommendation shall be made, and no final or binding action shall be taken, with respect to any preliminary 
application by the Commission. Any views expressed in the course of the Commission's review of any preliminary 
application shall be deemed to be only preliminary and advisory and only the individual views of the member 
expressing them. Nothing said or done in the course of such review shall be deemed to create, or to prejudice, 
any rights of the applicant or to obligate the Commission, or any member of it, to approve or deny any formal 
application following full consideration thereof as required by this Title.  
 
Pursuant to Title 14, Section 14-5-1(B), no alteration shall be allowed to, and no permits shall be issued for, the 
alteration, demolition, signage, or any other physical modifications of the exterior architectural appearance of any 
structure, building, site, or area located in a designated historic district without the rendering of a final decision 
by the Historic Preservation Commission on an application for a certificate of appropriateness. The final decision 
of the Historic Preservation Commission shall be advisory only. 
 
Applications for a Certificate of Appropriateness shall conform to the applicable standards set forth in Village Code 
Title 14, Section 14-5-2, which are attached for review. 
 
Attachments 
1. Zoning Map and Project Location 
2. Aerial View  
3. Birds Eye View 
4. Robbins Park Historic District Map 
5. National Register of Historic Places Sheet  
6. Robbins Park II Architectural Resources Survey Sheet (2006) 
7. Certificate of Appropriateness Review Criteria - Village Code Title 14, Section 14-5-2  
8. Application for Certificate of Appropriateness and Exhibits 
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Aerial View – 430 E. Seventh Street 
 

 
 

  

430 E. Seventh Street 



Birds Eye View – 430 E. Seventh Street 
 

 

 





Robbins Park Historic District 
Name of Property 

NPS Form 10-900-a 
(8-86) 

United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service 

National Register of Historic Places 
Continuation Sheet 

Section number 7 Page 20 

Robbins Park Historic District 
Hinsdale, DuPage County, IL 

Boiler House 

'335 E SEVENTH French Eclectic 1925 Ballon, R. N. House 

1338 E SEVENTH Vacant 

1344 E SEVENTH a cant 

1405 E SEVENTH Tudor Revival 1927 Hiatt, Houston House 

]420 E SEVENTH Renaissance Revival 1929 Hogenson, W. M. House 

!425 IE ISEVE_NTH Jcolonial Revival 1924 Elwell, Russell T. House 

1430 E SEVENTH Colonial Revival [~38 !Nelson, N. John House 
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:118IEISIXTH __ lc;-ionial Revival _ le. 1920 
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:138 E SIXTH Colonial Revival 1931 Miller, H. A. House 

1.44.IEISI~:., 
lUnder construction 2007-

08 
205 E SIXTH Nee-Traditional 1999 

:208 E SIXTH Tudor Revival 1925 Everett Residence 

:211 E SIXTH Nee-Traditional 1995 

;218 E SIXTH Colonial Revival 1924 Crowell, John H. House 

j222 E SIXTH Classical Revival 1892 Merrill, J.C. S. House 
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!:louse at 425 E. Eighth Street (1937) and the 
John Allbright House at 632 S. Elm Street 
(1934). T11e house on Elm Street has been 
rated potentially significant, and the house on 
Eighth Street has been rated significant and 
may potentially be eligible for listing on the 
National Register. Both houses are listed on 
the Illinois Historic Structures Survey. There 
is also one residence-the Russell T. Elwell 
House al 425 E. Seventh Street-with only 
Richard Schmidt iisted as the architect. 

Philip Duke West (b. May 2, l 905, Calumet, 
Ml - d. November 16, 1974, Palm Desert, 
CA) was a local Hinsdale architect who was 
educated at the University of Michigan (8.S. 
Arch, 1929) and was employed as a designer, 
draftsman, and superintendent at a number of 
prestib'lOUS Chicago architecture firms 
including Holabird & Root (1926-1930), 
Philip Maher (1930-1931), and Schmidt, 
Garden & Erickson (1944-1945). 
Additionally, he was the chief architect for 
Butler Brothers (1945-1947). In 1947 in 
Hinsdale, he &iarted his own firm, Philip Duke 
West, and designed and built his office at 33 
E. First Street 

In 1950, Philip Duke West designed a.number 
of prominent buildings in the 1930s, 1940s, 
and 1950s, including the Hlnsdale Police and 
Fire Station Building at 33 E. First Street 
(1935), the Sinnissippi Farm, Oregon, rllinois 
(1950), the Kankakee (nlinois) Daily Journal 
Building (1951), and the Oak Park (Illinois) 
YMCA (1953-1954). Tn addition to his own. 
office and the Police and Fire Station, other 
bui I dings designed by Philip West in Hinsdale 
include the International Style professional 
office building at 111 S.LincolnStreet(l955-
since demolished). He later formed a 
partnership with Donald Hill Bergstrom, 
called Philip West, Donald Bergstrom & 

Associates. This is the Arm that designed the 
Hinsdale Police Station al 121 Symonds Drive 
( 1969) and the Hinsdale Fire Station at 123 
Symonds Drive (1969). In 1967, he retired to 
Palm Desert, CA, where he died seven years 
later. Pli.ilip West was a prominent member o f 
the Hinsdale community and also served on 
the Hinsdale Plan Commission beginning in 
1950. 

There are ten residences designed by Philip 
Duke West in the survey area. Four oftl1ese 
designs are rated significant: the R. M. 
Dilworth House al 730 S. County Line Road 
(1939); the Frank Mayer House al 731 S. Elm 
Street (1940); the George Bunker House at 
740 S. Elm Street (1940); and the John N. 
Nelson House at 430 E. Seventh Street (1938). 

R. HaroW Zook (1889-1949) was a Hinsdale 
resident, and is known to have designed 31 
homes and six commercial buildings in 
Hinsdale. His buildings were charmingly 
unique and superbly crafted. They often 
displayed signature features including 
thatched roofs, spiderweb-leaded-glass v­
shaped windows that protrude like the prow of 
a ship, chevron-patterned doors, and layered 
mol.dings. He also designed some Tudor 
Revival style homes with slate roofs. 

Born in Indiana in 1889, he received his 
degree in architecture from the Armour 
Institute of Technology (now UT). He began 
his career with Howard Van Doren Shaw and 
later opened llis own offices in Chicago. ln 
1924, Zook and his family moved to Hinsdale 
to a home he designed at 327 S. Oak Street. 
From 1932 until his death in 1949, he was 
chairman of the architectural. committee of the 
Hinsdale Plan Commission. [n !hat position he 
implemented a master plan for the village. 
Although few ofh.is architectural.records have 

12 Architectural Resources in the Robbins II Survey Area 
Granocki Hfs1orlc Consultants. 2007 



CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS REVIEW CRITERIA  
VILLAGE CODE TITLE 14, SECTION 14-5-2 
 
14-5-2: CRITERIA: 

All applications for a certificate of appropriateness shall conform to the applicable standards in this 
section. 
 
A. General Standards: 

1. Alterations that do not affect any essential architectural or historic features of a structure or 
building as viewed from a public or private street ordinarily should be permitted. 

2. The distinguishing original qualities or character of a structure, building, or site and its 
environment should not be destroyed. No alteration or demolition of any historic material or 
distinctive architectural feature should be permitted except when necessary to assure an 
economically viable use of a site. 

3. All structures, buildings, sites, and areas should be recognized as products of their own time. 
Alterations that have no historical basis and that seek to create an earlier appearance than the 
true age of the property are discouraged. 

4. Changes that may have taken place in the course of time are evidence of the history and 
development of a structure, building, or site and its environment. These changes may have 
acquired significance in their own right, and this significance should be recognized and 
respected when dealing with a specific architectural period. 

5. Distinctive stylistic features or examples of skilled craftsmanship that characterize a structure, 
building, site, or area should ordinarily be maintained and preserved. 

6. Deteriorated architectural features should be repaired rather than replaced, whenever possible. 
In the event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being 
replaced in composition, design, color, texture, and other visual qualities. Repair or replacement 
of missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of features, 
substantiated by historic, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural designs or the 
availability of different architectural elements from other buildings or structures. 

7. The surface cleaning of structures and buildings should be undertaken with the gentlest means 
possible. Sandblasting and other cleaning methods that will damage the structures and 
buildings should be avoided. 

8. New structures or buildings, or alterations to sites should not be discouraged when such 
structures or alterations do not destroy significant historical or architectural features and are 
compatible with the size, scale, color, material, and character of the site, neighborhood, or 
environment. 

9. Whenever possible, new structures or buildings, or alterations to the existing conditions of sites 
should be done in such a manner that, if such new structures or alterations were to be removed 
in the future, the essential form and integrity of the original structure, building, site, or area 
would be unimpaired. 

10. Any permitted alteration or demolition should promote the purposes of this Title and general 
welfare of the Village and its residents. 

11. Demolition should not be permitted if a structure, building, or site is economically viable in its 
present condition or could be economically viable after completion of appropriate alterations, 
even if demolition would permit a more profitable use of such site. 
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B. Design Standards: 

1. Height: The height of a landmark after alteration should be compatible with the height of the 
original landmark. The height of a structure or building and adjacent open spaces after any 
proposed alteration or construction within an historic district should be compatible with the style 
and character of the structure or building and with surrounding structures and buildings in an 
historic district. 

2. Relationship Between Mass And Open Space: The relationship between a landmark and 
adjacent open spaces after its alteration should be compatible with such relationship prior to 
such alteration. The relationship between a structure or building and adjacent open spaces after 
alteration within an historic district should be compatible with the relationship between 
surrounding structures, buildings and adjacent open spaces within such historic district. 

3. Relationship Among Height, Width And Scale: The relationship among the height, width, and 
scale of a landmark after alteration should be compatible with such relationship prior to such 
alteration. The relationship among height, width, and scale of a structure or building after an 
alteration within an historic district should be compatible with the relationship among height, 
width, and scale of surrounding structures and buildings within such historic district. 

4. Directional Expression: The directional expressions of a landmark after alteration, whether its 
vertical or horizontal positioning, should be compatible with the directional expression of the 
original landmark. The directional expression of a structure or building after alteration within an 
historic district should be compatible with the directional expression of surrounding structures 
and buildings within such historic district. 

5. Roof Shape: The roof shape of a landmark after alteration should be compatible with the roof 
shape of the original landmark. The roof shape of a structure, building, or object after alteration 
within an historic district should be compatible with the roof shape of surrounding structures and 
buildings within such historic district. 

6. Architectural Details, General Designs, Materials, Textures, And Colors: The architectural 
details, general design, materials, textures, and colors of a landmark after alteration should be 
compatible with the architectural details, general design, materials, textures, and colors of the 
original landmark. The architectural details, general design, materials, textures, and colors of a 
structure or building after alteration within an historic district should be compatible with the 
architectural details, general design, materials, textures, and colors of surrounding structures 
and buildings within such historic district. 

7. Landscape And Appurtenances: The landscape and appurtenances, including without limitation 
signs, fences, accessory structures, and pavings, of a landmark after alteration should be 
compatible with the landscape and appurtenances of the original landmark. The landscape and 
appurtenances of a structure or building after alteration within an historic district should be 
compatible with the landscape and appurtenances of surrounding structures and buildings 
within such historic district. 

8. Construction: New construction in an historic district should be compatible with the architectural 
styles, design standards and streetscapes within such historic districts. 

 

C. Additional Standards: In addition to the foregoing standards, the commission may consider the 
secretary of the interior's standards for rehabilitation guidelines for rehabilitating historic buildings 
(revised 1983), and any amendments thereto, in reviewing any application under this section.  
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430 E Seventh Street| West elevation

430 E Seventh Street| North elevation



430 E Seventh Street| East elevation | Detached garage

430 E Seventh Street| South elevation



420 E Seventh Street | West adjacent home

710 S County Line Road | East adjacent home



425 E Seventh Street | Home across the street

711 S Oak Street | Home to West at corner of Oak + Seventh
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              MEMORANDUM 

DATE: April 1, 2022 

TO:  Chairman Bohnen and Historic Preservation Commissioners 

CC: Kathleen A. Gargano, Village Manager 
 Robb McGinnis, Director of Community Development/Building Commissioner 

FROM:   Bethany Salmon, Village Planner  

RE:  Case A-07-2022 – 18 E. Hinsdale Avenue – Zazu Salon & Day Spa – Installation of One (1) Wall 
Sign  

FOR:  April 6, 2022 Historic Preservation Commission Meeting 
 
 
Summary 
The Village of Hinsdale has received a sign permit application from Aurora Sign Company requesting 
approval to install one (1) new wall sign for Zazu Salon & Day Spa located at 18 E. Hinsdale Avenue. The 
existing two-story building is located in the B-2 Central Business District and the Downtown Historic 
District. 
 
Request and Analysis 
The applicant is requesting to replace the existing wall sign and install one (1) internally illuminated wall 
sign centered on the front façade of the building facing Hinsdale Avenue. The proposed wall sign consists 
of a black opaque aluminum panel with push-thru acrylic white letters. The sign measures 4’ tall and 6’ 3” 
wide, with an overall sign face area of 25 square feet. The top of the wall sign will be mounted 13’ 11” 
from grade. 
 
The applicant has provided photos of similar signs installed at other locations to show how the sign will 
look illuminated at night. The black background will be opaque, with only the sign copy transmitting light 
through, as required by Section 9-106(E) of the Zoning Code. As part of this sign permit review, no 
permanent window signs in the storefront windows are proposed.  
 
Per Section 9-106(J), in the B-2 District, two (2) awning valance, canopy valance, wall, or permanent 
window signs are allowed per user. A maximum gross surface area of all awning valance, canopy valance, 
wall, and permanent window signs for the entire building shall not exceed the greater of: 1) one square 
foot per foot of building frontage, up to a maximum of one hundred (100) square feet, or 2) twenty five 
(25) square feet for each business that has a separate ground level principal entrance directly to the 
outside of the building onto a street, alley, courtyard, or parking lot. The proposed wall sign meets the 
Village’s code requirements. 
 
Process 
Per Section 11-607(D) and the nature of the request, this application shall be reviewed and approved by 
the Plan Commission and does not require public notification. Per Village Code Section 14-5-1(B), the 
Historic Preservation Commission shall review signage in the Historic District. The final decision of the 
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Historic Preservation Commission shall be advisory only. The Plan Commission maintains final authority 
on signage with no further action required by the Board of Trustees. 
Per Section 11-607(E), no sign permit shall be granted pursuant to this section unless the applicant shall 
establish that: 

1. Visual Compatibility: The proposed sign will be visually compatible with the building on which the 
sign is proposed to be located and surrounding buildings and structures in terms of height, size, 
proportion, scale, materials, texture, colors, and shapes. 

2. Quality of Design and Construction: The proposed sign will be constructed and maintained with a 
design and materials of high quality and good relationship with the design and character of the 
neighborhood. 

3. Appropriateness to Activity: The proposed sign is appropriate to and necessary for the activity to 
which it pertains. 

4. Appropriateness to Site: The proposed sign will be appropriate to its location in terms of design, 
landscaping, and orientation on the site, and will not create a hazard to pedestrian or vehicular 
traffic, detract from the value or enjoyment of neighboring properties, or unduly increase the 
number of signs in the area. 

 
Attachments 
1. Zoning Map and Project Location 
2. Birds Eye View  
3. Street View  
4. Sign Application and Exhibits 
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Birds Eye View – 18 E. Hinsdale Avenue 
 

 

  

18 E. Hinsdale Avenue 



Street View – 18 E. Hinsdale Avenue 
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Location Name:
PRINT

TITLE:

DATE:

Computer generated colors are not a true match to any PMS, vinyl or paint.
Rendering shown is for concept only.  Actual scale and placement shown are approximate.

INSTALLATION INSTRUCTIONS
REMOVE EXISTING SIGN AND DISPOSE.

CAULK FILL ANY HOLES LEFT FROM REMOVAL OF SIGN.

ASC NOT RESPONSIBLE FOR WALL REPAIR.

CENTER NEW SIGN LEFT/RIGHT TOP/BOTTOM ON WALL AS SHOWN.

CONNECT TO ELECTRICAL SERVICE

TO BE PROVIDED BY OTHERS PRIOR TO INSTALL.

ILLUMINATED WALL SIGN
FABRICATE AND INSTALL SIGN OF ALUMINUM AND ACRYLIC. 

ALUMINUM TO BE ROUTED FOR COPY
AND BACKED WITH ACRYLIC.  “ZAZU” TO BE PUSH-THRU ACRYLIC. 

ALL EXPOSED METAL SURFACES TO BE COATED WITH ACRYLIC POLYURETHANE.
INTERNAL ILLUMINATION TO BE WHITE LEDS.

SCALE - 3/4" = 1'

6'-3"

4’-0”

Disconnect
Switch

Wall

1ZAZU-HINSDALE 18 E. HINSDALE AVE.

HINSDALE, IL

12/6/2021211716

LH

Existing
Electrical Service

Push-thru acrylic.
Projects -/+ .25” from

face of aluminum

Wall anchor
TBD on site

Screw

Angle Frame

.125” routed aluminum face

Represents white led

Stud-mount

13’-9”

 Height  at top 

of existing sign 

to grade

31-9”’ Frontage

0'-5"
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Example photos of similar signs for other locations, by day and night: 

     

 

    

     

 

NOTE:  Other salon locations are Wheaton, Elmhurst, Chicago-Gold Coast and Naperville 
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